Grand Valley State University ScholarWorks@GVSU

**Masters Theses** 

Graduate Research and Creative Practice

8-19-2021

# Immune Cell Profile in the Epididymis of Leptin and Leptin Receptor Knockout Mice

Hilary Skalski Grand Valley State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses

Part of the Physiology Commons

#### ScholarWorks Citation

Skalski, Hilary, "Immune Cell Profile in the Epididymis of Leptin and Leptin Receptor Knockout Mice" (2021). *Masters Theses*. 1028. https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses/1028

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research and Creative Practice at ScholarWorks@GVSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@GVSU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gvsu.edu.

# Immune Cell Profile in the Epididymis of Leptin and Leptin-Receptor Knockout Mice

Hilary Jean Skalski

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

### GRAND VALLEY STATE UNIVERSITY

In

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Masters of Health Science

**Biomedical Sciences** 

August 2021

#### **Thesis Approval Form**



The signatories of the committee members below indicate that they have read and approved the thesis of Hilary Skalski in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Health Science in Biomedical Sciences.

Dr. Christopher Pearl, Thesis committee chair mes Christopher Beed, Committee member --/21 Date Dr. Kristin Renkema, Committee member

Accepted and approved on behalf of the College of Liberal Arts and Sciences

Jungh Dan

Dean of the College

7/30/2021

Accepted and approved on behalf of the Graduate Faculty

Associate Vice-Provost for the Graduate School

8/19/2021

Date

Date

#### Dedication

I would like to dedicate this research to my parents, Jean and Felix Skalski, and my sister Lizzy. I could not have gotten through these last three years without your love and support. Thank you, mom and dad, for being examples of where an education and hard work can take you. Lizzy, thank you for helping me laugh through even the hardest of days. I thank all three of you for being my rock and always believing in me. I love you to the moon and back!

#### Acknowledgements

I first want to thank my mentor Dr. Christopher Pearl. Thank you for teaching me about the world of male reproduction and about scientific research in general. I owe a great amount of my success these last three years to you. Moreover, I can honestly say that your mentorship pushed and encouraged me to continue my academic studies in reproductive health at the PhD level. Thank you for helping me find my passion in this field.

I would also like to thank my committee members. Thank you to Dr. Kristin Renkema for helping me navigate through the complex field of immunology. I greatly appreciate your patience and for being a role model to women entering the field of scientific academia. Thank you also to Dr. James Christopher Reed for being flexible and hanging in there with me, especially over the last challenging year and a half. Thank you additionally to The GVSU Graduate School for helping fund my research.

Next, I would like to thank the Biomedical Sciences department for allowing me to be a part of this outstanding program. I have learned a lot from and been inspired by the many professors I interacted with in the last three years. A special thank you to Dr. Dawn Richiert for taking to time to answer my numerous questions regarding human anatomy. Also, thank you to Dr. Zeni Shabani for trusting in me and encouraging me during the start of my academic teaching.

Lastly, thank you to Grand Valley State University for allowing me to grow as an individual and an academic during the 8 years I was here for undergraduate and graduate school. I couldn't imagine a better place to learn from. I will be a proud Laker for a Lifetime!

#### Abstract

Genetically-modified mice lacking the leptin hormone (Ob) or leptin receptor (Db) have reduced testosterone and decreased sperm production leading to infertility. Leptin receptors are also expressed by immune cells, suggesting leptin can regulate immune responses. Recent studies have focused on identifying the immune cells present within the epididymis and found cells expressing markers typically associated with dendritic and macrophage cells. These cells likely function against infection and to induce tolerance to sperm. The effects of leptin on the immune system and the presence of immune cells within the epididymis raises the possibility that alterations in the immune cell profile and/or function may contribute to the infertility observed in leptin-altered mice. The purpose of this study was to investigate potential differences in the epididymal immune cell profile in normal, Ob, and Db mice. The epididymis was collected from C57, Ob and Db mice at 16 weeks of age (n=6 per group) and divided into three regions (IS/caput, corpus, and cauda). Each region was processed for incubation with antibodies to innate immune cell markers (CD11b, CD11c, F4/80) or adaptive immune cell markers (CD4, CD8, CD19) and counted by flow cytometry. The percentage of CD8+ cells was significantly lower in the cauda of Ob and Db mice compared to the C57 mice. In all groups of mice, the percentage of CD11b+ cells was highest in the IS/caput and significantly lower in the cauda. Within each region, the percentage of CD11b+ cells was similar between all mouse models. The largest population of CD11b+ cells was also CD11c+ and F4/80+, though no difference was seen between epididymal regions or genetic backgrounds. The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were CD11c+ and F4/80- was significantly lower in the cauda of Ob and Db

mice compared to C57. The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were CD11c- and F4/80+ was significantly lower in the corpus of Ob and Db mice compared to C57. These results suggest that leptin may alter subpopulations of innate immune cells within specific epididymal regions, but the overall profile of innate immune cells, and therefore the response of the innate immune system, is likely unaffected.

| Title Page                                                | 1  |
|-----------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Approval Form                                             | 2  |
| Dedication                                                | 3  |
| Acknowledgements                                          | 4  |
| Abstract                                                  | 5  |
| Table of Contents                                         | 7  |
| List of Figures                                           | 9  |
| Abbreviations                                             | 11 |
| Chapter 1 Introduction                                    | 13 |
| Introduction                                              | 13 |
| Purpose                                                   | 14 |
| Scope                                                     | 14 |
| Assumptions                                               | 15 |
| Hypothesis                                                | 15 |
| Significance                                              | 15 |
| Chapter 2 Review of Literature                            | 17 |
| Obesity in Regards to Reproductive Health                 | 17 |
| Anatomy and Physiology of the Male Reproductive System    | 17 |
| Normal Endocrine Regulation with Emphasis on the HPG Axis | 23 |
| Leptin and the Male Reproductive Tract                    | 25 |
| Previous Laboratory Findings                              | 30 |
| Immune System Components and their Basic Functions        | 32 |
| The Immune System and Leptin                              | 34 |
| Immune System of the Male Reproductive Tract              |    |
| Chapter 3 Methodology                                     | 42 |
| Animal Model                                              | 42 |
| Sperm Counts                                              | 44 |
| Immunohistochemistry                                      | 46 |
| Flow Cytometry                                            | 47 |
| Tissue Digestion, Antibody Incubation, and Flow Cytometry | 47 |
| Gating Strategy                                           | 48 |
| Data/Statistical Analysis                                 | 52 |
| Chapter 4 Results                                         | 54 |

## **Table of Contents**

| Reproductive Parameters              | 54 |
|--------------------------------------|----|
| Immunohistochemistry                 |    |
| Flow Cytometry                       |    |
| Inguinal Lymph Nodes                 |    |
| Epididymal Segments                  | 64 |
| Chapter 5 Discussion and Conclusions | 69 |
| Bibliography                         | 79 |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1: Diagram of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal (HPG) Axis                                                | 24 |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Figure 2: Total Testis and Epididymal Sperm Counts                                                                | 31 |
| Figure 3: Histological Differences in the Initial Segment of the Epididymis in C57<br>Versus Ob and Db Obese Mice | 32 |
| Figure 4: 16-Week Db Mouse Epididymal Fat Pad with Testis and Epididymis Attached                                 | 43 |
| Figure 5: 16-Week Db Mouse Inguinal Lymph Node Dissected from Surrounding<br>Abdominal Cavity Fat                 | 43 |
| Figure 6: Example of Sperm on a 4x4 Counting Square within a Hemacytometer                                        | 45 |
| Figure 7: The Counting Area for a Hemocytometer                                                                   | 45 |
| Figure 8: Lymph Node Gating for Dendritic (DC) and Macrophage (M $\phi$ ) Cells                                   | 49 |
| Figure 9: Lymph Node Gating for T-Helper (Th) and B Cells                                                         | 50 |
| Figure 10: Lymph Node Gating for Cytotoxic T (Tc) Cells                                                           | 50 |
| Figure 11: Epididymis Gating for Potential DC and $M\phi$ Cells                                                   | 51 |
| Figure 12: Epididymis Gating for Th (CD4+) Cells                                                                  | 51 |
| Figure 13: Epididymis Gating for Tc (CD8+) Cells                                                                  | 52 |
| Figure 14: Epididymis Gating for B (CD19+) Cells                                                                  | 52 |
| Figure 15: Body and Tissue Weights of C57, Ob and Db Mice                                                         | 55 |
| Figure 16: Distance Between Testis and Initial Segment                                                            | 56 |
| Figure 17: Epididymal Sperm Counts                                                                                | 56 |
| Figure 18: IHC Images of the C57 Caput, Corpus and Cauda (50 $\mu$ m Scale)                                       | 58 |
| Figure 19: Percentage of Cells Expressing CD11b in Inguinal Lymph Nodes                                           | 60 |
| Figure 20: Expression of CD11c and F4/80 among CD11b+ Cells from Inguinal Lymph Nodes                             | 61 |

| Figure 21: /      | Adaptive Immune Cell Marker Expression in Cells from Inguinal Lymph Nodes                                  | 33 |
|-------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Figure 22: F      | Percentage of Cells Expressing CD11b in Epididymal<br>Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda)6              | 35 |
| Figure 23: E      | Expression of CD11c and F4/80 among CD11b+ Cells from<br>Epididymal Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda) | 66 |
| Figure 24: /<br>E | Adaptive Immune Cell Marker Expression in Cells from<br>Epididymal Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda)  | 66 |

#### Abbreviations

- **ARC =** arcuate nucleus
- **C57 =** wild-type mouse model
- **CD4 =** unique immune cell marker found on Helper T cells
- CD8 = unique immune cell marker found on Cytotoxic T cells
- **CD11b =** immune cell marker found on cells on myeloid-lineage
- CD11c = unique immune cell marker found on dendritic cells
- **CD19 =** unique immune cell marker found on B lymphocytes
- CD45 = immune cell marker found on all immune cells
- **CD64 =** unique immune cell marker found on macrophages
- CD206 = unique immune cell marker found on macrophage and dendritic cells
- **DC =** dendritic cells
- **Db** = leptin-receptor deficient mouse model
- **FSH =** follicle stimulating hormone
- F4/80 = unique immune cell marker found on macrophage cells
- **GnRH =** gonadotropin-releasing hormone
- **HPG =** Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal axis
- **LEPR =** leptin-receptor
- LH = luteinizing hormone
- **MP** = mononuclear phagocytes
- $\mathbf{M}\boldsymbol{\varphi}$  = macrophage cells
- NK = natural killer cells
- **NPY =** neuropeptide Y

**Ob =** leptin-deficient mouse model

Tc = Cytotoxic T cells

Th = Helper T cells

Treg = Regulatory T cells

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

#### Introduction

Males contribute up to 60% of infertility seen in couples (Katib, 2015). Male obesity might contribute to this infertility, as an increase in BMI over 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> is correlated with up to a 17% increase in infertility when compared to a BMI <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Sallmén *et al.*, 2006). The hormone leptin is produced mostly in adipose tissue and its function is satiety. The mutation of leptin receptor's long form (Ob-Rb) is known for its connection with severe obesity in both human and mouse models (reviewed in Wasim *et al.*, 2016). This is because circulating leptin reaches the hypothalamus and binds with the Ob-Rb receptor to reduce appetite and help reduce food intake as well as increase energy consumption and metabolism (Friedman, 2002; reviewed in Williams *et al.*, 2009).

Leptin not only affects metabolism, but also the reproductive tract by interacting with the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. In leptin-altered obese mouse models, Ob mice lack leptin and Db mice lack the long form of the leptin-receptor (Fantuzzi and Faggioni, 2000). Leptin-altered mouse models show a decrease in reproductive hormones and exhibit subfertility/infertility (reviewed in Teerds *et al.*, 2011; Martins *et al.*, 2017).

The testis is the major focus of research on the effects of leptin for infertility, while the post-testis system, including the epididymis, is underexplored. Research on the epididymis is important though, as work in the Pearl lab found a decrease in the number of epididymal sperm in Ob and Db mice when compared to the control mice, indicating a loss of sperm (Pearl and Doherty, 2018). In addition to decreased sperm

counts, the Pearl lab found histological evidence of inflammation in the initial segment of the epididymis.

Not only is there a relationship between leptin and the reproductive tract, but also the immune system. Several immune cells have leptin-receptors including monocytes, neutrophils, NK cells, DC cells and T and B lymphocytes (reviewed in Carlton *et al.*, 2012). Altering leptin signaling can therefore impact the function of various immune cells (reviewed in Scotece *et al.*, 2014). While, the impact of altered leptin signaling has been studied, the immune cell population in the epididymis of Ob and Db mice have not been investigated.

#### <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of altered leptin signaling on the epididymis, specifically its immune cell profile.

#### <u>Scope</u>

Altered leptin signaling causes changes to the male reproductive tract. We will reconfirm that there are relevant reproductive parameter changes to the male Ob and Db mice compared to the C57 wild type, as previously observed. This includes measurements of body, epididymal fat pad, testis and epididymal weights as well as epididymal sperm counts and testis to epididymal distance. To prove that leptin can have direct effects on the epididymis, immunohistochemistry (IHC) of 16-week C57 control mice will then be used to determine if cells in caput, corpus and cauda of the epididymis express the leptin receptor. In regards to the immune cell profile, there is

some evidence of inflammation in previous histological sections containing the initial segment of the epididymis in the leptin-altered mouse models. Therefore, we plan to investigate the types and distribution of immune cells in the epididymis between the C57, Ob, and Db mouse models.

#### <u>Assumptions</u>

- 1. Leptin signaling acts directly within the reproductive tract to affect infertility.
- Altered leptin signaling can lead to changes in immune cell populations within a tissue.

#### **Hypothesis**

Leptin and leptin-receptor deficient mice have altered epididymal immune cell profiles.

#### Significance

Males contribute to a significant amount of infertility seen in couple. In males, obesity incrementally increases the likelihood of infertility. Therefore, it is important to investigate the relationship between obesity and decreased fertility. Ob and Db mice which lack functional leptin signaling, show an increase in body weight as well as decreased reproductive parameters. In order to better understand the relationship between leptin-induced obesity and infertility, these two mouse models have been used. Immune cells also have receptors for leptin and as a result, concentrations are altered in the male reproductive tract of Ob and Db mice. This paper, to our knowledge, is the

first to investigate the effects of altered leptin-signaling on the immune cell profile in the murine epididymis.

#### **Chapter 2 Review of Literature**

#### Obesity in Regards to Reproductive Health

According to the CDC, from 2015 to 2016 the US national obesity rate for adult males was 38% (Hales, 2017). This is a significant increase from the estimated 11.7% in 1991 or even the 17.9% in 1998 (Katib, 2015). Due to this rapid increase, several authors suggest that obesity is a growing epidemic (Katib, 2015; El Salam, 2018). In 2015 to 2016 the males of usual reproductive age, 20 to 39, specifically had an obesity rate of 34.8% (Hales, 2017). This number is concerning as in one study, percentage of infertility increased 5% once an overweight BMI was obtained (BMI of >25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) as compared to just under the overweight category. This percentage of infertility increased each BMI interval and was the highest at a 17% increase in infertility in the highest BMI category of  $35+ kg/m^2$  (Sallmén *et al.*, 2006).

Infertility is defined as the absence of conception by a couple after one year of regular unprotected intercourse (Zegers-Hochschild *et al.*, 2009). A common misconception is to link infertility only with females. On the contrary, up to 30% of infertility cases are due solely to the male partner. An additional 30% of infertility cases have both the male partner and the female partner contributing to the infertility (Katib, 2015). This leads to the question of how much the male infertility rate of 9% is, and will be, affected by the growing rate of obesity (Chandra and Stephen, 2013).

#### Anatomy and Physiology of the Male Reproductive System

There are several structures that make up the male reproductive system. First, there are the two testes in the external scrotal sac of most mammals. The testes are

composed of up to 900 seminiferous tubules, each averaging more than a half-meter in length. These seminiferous tubules are grouped together into about 250 lobules. The avascular seminiferous tubules contain Sertoli cells whose basal surface is attached to the basement membrane and developing germ cells. The Sertoli cell cytoplasm envelopes and supports germ cells throughout spermatogenesis. Spermatogenesis is the process where the circular spermatogonia transform into primary and secondary spermatocytes and then to spermatozoa over approximately 35 days in mice and 64 days in humans (Kerr *et al.*, 2006). As sperm undergo this process, they migrate from the basement membrane towards the lumen of the tubule (Smith and Walker, 2015). Each testis can form up to 60 million sperm each day (Hall, 2016). Sperm are composed of several parts, including the head, the acrosome cap, the midpiece with mitochondria and a centriole, and the flagellum tail (McKinley *et al.*, 2019).

Tight junctions between adjacent Sertoli cells form a blood-testis barrier. In a healthy testis, this blood-testis barrier protects the sperm in the tubules from the adjacent interstitial space's immune cells, which might consider the sperm a foreign substance due to their unique protein composition (McKinley *et al.*, 2019). The interstitial space surrounding the seminiferous tubules contain blood vessels, lymphatic vessels, nerves and Leydig cells. These interstitial Leydig cells produce and secrete testosterone, which is a primary steroid hormone of the testis and is fundamental for maintaining spermatogenesis (Smith and Walker, 2015).

Once released, the sperm travel down their seminiferous tubule with fluid from Sertoli cells, collect at the rete testis and then to the efferent ducts (Cooper and Jackson, 1972; Hall, 2016; McKinley *et al.*, 2019). The efferent ducts originate from the

mesonephric tubules, as compared to the mesonephric duct, where most of the male reproductive system develops (Linder, 1971). This series of efferent ducts, covered by connective tissue and fat, provides a connection from the testis to the epididymis. The wall of the ducts is composed of a thin layer of smooth muscle and connective tissue supporting a columnar epithelium. This, along with an increase in peritubular capillaries, helps mark the transition from the rete testis, as that was composed of cuboidal cells (Robaire and Hermo, 1988). There are three sections of the efferent ducts including the proximal zone, the conus region and the terminus. The proximal region connects the ducts to the rete testis. Next, is the conus region, which is larger in diameter followed by the narrow terminus region connecting the efferent ducts to the initial segment of the epididymis (Ilio and Hess, 1994).

The number of efferent ducts at the testis' end range from 2 to 33 depending on species. In humans, they vary from 6 to 15 (Jonté and Holstein, 1987), whereas mice range from 3 to 5 (Barack, 1968). The number of ducts that transition to the epididymis also varies with species. For example, the ducts in mice usually join to form one common duct that morphs into the epididymis' initial segment (Cooper and Jackson, 1972). On the other hand, humans have several ducts that enter the epididymis separately (Macmillan, 1953).

Along with the varied converging patterns of epididymal ducts, there is a possibility of mistaking blind-ending tubules for stretched and broken efferent ducts. Blind-ending tubules have been seen in human males as well as other mammals. One study on rats, showed that 60% of the efferent ducts dissected contained blind-ending tubules (Guttroff *et al.*, 1992). These tubules are connected to the lumen of either the

epididymis or extratesticular rete testis, but not connected to the lumen of the reproductive tract on the other end. The end that is not connected to the lumen is sealed off at a blunt end (Hemeida *et al.*, 1978). The appearance of blind-ending tubules vary from normal efferent ducts in several ways. Differences include that the tubules contain small diameters, are surrounded by thick dense connective tissue, contain fewer lysosomes in the cytoplasm of non-ciliated cells and their epithelium stain more intensely. Moreover, sperm are generally not present in the lumen of blind-ending tubules (Guttroff *et al.*, 1992).

The efferent ducts are a major site for fluid reabsorption, with up to 94.8% of luminal fluids being removed as sperm passes through (Man *et al.*, 1997). Unlike most of the male reproductive tract which depend on androgen receptors (AR) for regulation, the efferent ducts rely on estrogen receptors (ER). In particular, ER $\alpha$  serves a major role in the efferent ducts' regulation. This receptor is important in regulation as ER $\alpha$  knockout mice (ER $\alpha$ KO) show dilated efferent ducts up to 297%, suggesting the lack of reabsorption of luminal fluid (Hess *et al.*, 1997; Hess *et al.*, 2000). ER $\alpha$ KO mice also show reduced efferent duct epithelial height by 48% and show a 60% increase in prevalence of blind-ending tubules as compared to wild-type mice. Additionally, microvilli on non-ciliated cells show a reduction in both length (by 64%) and overall presence on some cells. In regard to ciliated cells, the cilia number was also reduced and appeared to beat off sync from one another. This could affect the even reabsorption of fluid as the cilia are used to mix luminal fluids (Ilio and Hess, 1994; Hess *et al.*, 2000).

After the efferent ducts, the sperm travel through the single convoluted tube called the epididymis. The epididymis can reach up to one meter in length in a mouse, while a human's can reach up to six meters. The epididymis, like the efferent ducts, is made up of several regions along its length. Most species include three major regions called the caput, the corpus and the cauda. These regions can be further broken up into more morphologically and molecularly distinct regions that are unique for different species (Cornwall, 2009). For example, there is evidence that the epididymis of a mouse can now be separated into as many as 10 distinct regions (Johnston *et al.*, 2005). In most species, from the caput down to the cauda, the luminal diameter increases and the epithelial cells height decreases (Robaire *et al.*, 2010a).

There are several different cell types making up the epithelium of the epididymis including principal cells, basal cells, clear cells, halo cells, narrow cells and apical cells (Robaire and Hermo, 1988; Robaire and Hinton, 2015). The most common type of cell is the columnar-shaped principal cell, which has apical cilia and is seen from the initial segment to the cauda. Its functions are fluid and nutrient exchange. Basal cells are also spread throughout the epididymis and vary in appearance by region of the epididymis. They can be dome shaped by the basement membrane but have cytoplasmic projections that go in between epithelial cells towards the lumen. These projections are thought to sample the lumen and then signal to the neighboring principal and clear cells (Robaire and Hermo, 1988; Robaire and Viger, 1995; Shum *et al.*, 2008; Robaire and Hinton, 2015). Halo cells are also seen throughout the epididymis. These cells are now known to be T lymphocytes as well as monocytes with past research describing them as immunocompetent cells that help prevent sperm autoimmunity (Robaire and Hermo,

1988; Robaire and Hinton, 2015). Narrow cells on the other hand are only in the initial segment and clear cells are in the caput, corpus, and cauda. These two cell types maintain luminal pH, which is important for sperm maturation. Also, like in the testis, there is a blood-organ barrier, which in the epididymis is called with blood-epididymal barrier. This barrier is made by tight junctions between the epithelial cells of the epididymis. In contrast to the blood-testis barrier though, the blood-epididymal barrier's apical end is not as elaborate and therefore allows for potential leukocyte invasion (Nashan *et al.*, 1989; Nashan *et al.*, 1990; Da Silva *et al.*, 2011; Hedger, 2011; Michel *et al.*, 2015).

The transit time for sperm through the epididymis takes 2 to 6 days in a human and 10 to 13 days in rodents (Cornwall, 2009). The sperm can then be stored in the cauda of the epididymis for long periods of time, even extending past 30 days (Orgebin-Crist *et al.*, 1975). Movement through the epididymis is propelled by the smooth muscle layer surrounding the tubule. This muscle layer increases in thickness from the proximal to distal segments (Baumgarten *et al.*, 1971). Even though the sperm are much more concentrated, due to the fluid being absorbed in the efferent ducts, sperm still need to undergo maturation as they traverse through the epididymis. Therefore, in general, the four main functions of the epididymis are 1) absorptive and secretory activities creating a luminal environment conducive for sperm maturation, 2) development of sperm motility, 3) development of sperm fertilizing ability and 4) the transport and storage of sperm (Robaire and Hinton, 2015).

After the cauda of the epididymis, the sperm travel through the vas deferens. At the base of the bladder, the vas deferens joins with the proximal end of the seminal

vesicle duct to then form the ejaculatory duct of the prostate. After the ejaculatory duct, the sperm continue through the prostatic urethra, which urine also travels through. Once the mixture exits the prostate, it enters the membranous urethra just inferior to the prostate and then finally the penile urethra, where it will then exit the male's body (McKinley *et al.*, 2019).

#### Normal Endocrine Regulation with Emphasis on the HPG Axis

The hormonal regulation of the male reproductive system is through the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal (HPG) axis (Figure 1). In this sequence, there is a pulsatile release of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) from the arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus, which travels through the hypothalamic-hypophyseal portal blood system, to the anterior pituitary gland. Once at the anterior pituitary, GnRH binds to its gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor (GnRHR) on the cells' surface. This stimulates the production and secretion of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) in the gonadotrope cells of the anterior pituitary. LH then travels in the blood and attaches to its G protein-coupled receptors on the surface of testis' Leydig cells to stimulate the production of testosterone from cholesterol (Robaire et al., 2010b). Testosterone can bind to its receptors in Sertoli cell nuclei, which allows testosterone to have an indirect effect on spermatogenesis. Alternatively, testosterone can travel in the bloodstream, where it can go to peripheral tissues. The testes, as well as the peripheral adipose tissue, may convert the testosterone to estradiol (reviewed in Teerds et al., 2011). FSH can also stimulate the Sertoli cells to promote spermatogenesis (Figure 1) (Robaire et al., 2010b).

This HPG axis is a negative feedback system with differential regulation of LH and FSH. The increase in FSH causes inhibin to be produced in the Sertoli cells. Inhibin suppresses the release of FSH from the anterior pituitary. Concurrently, testosterone or estradiol at the hypothalamus bind to their receptors on KISS1 neurons in the hypothalamus and subsequently inhibit the release of kisspeptins (Teerds *et al.*, 2011). GnRH neurons in the hypothalamus require these kisspeptins to bind to their G-protein coupled receptor, GPR54, to stimulate the release of GnRH. Therefore, the absence of kisspeptin signaling prevents the release of GnRH (Messager *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, KISS1 represses the action of neuropeptide Y (NPY) in the hypothalamus, whose function is to inhibit GnRH release. Therefore, an increase in kisspeptin will prevent NPY from impeding GnRH release, therefore promoting the release of GnRH (Teerds *et al.*, 2011).



**Figure 1: Diagram of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal (HPG) Axis** GnRH=gonadotropin-releasing hormone, FSH, follicle stimulating hormone, LH= luteinizing hormone.

#### Leptin and the Male Reproductive Tract

In addition to the classic components of the HPG axis, another factor interacting with this axis is a 146 amino acid protein named leptin. In 1950, Jackson Laboratory discovered a spontaneous strain of mice that were morbidly obese due to overeating and lacked energy expenditure. Scientists believed these mice lacked satiety signals and labelled this mysterious missing satiety gene the *ob* gene, after the obesity its functional absence caused. Therefore, mice that lack a functional gene were called Ob mice. Another similar spontaneous mouse strain was discovered in 1965. These mice were said to lack a functioning *db* gene, which was named *db* after the diabetes that these mice acquired along with the obesity (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2000; Wauman *et al.*, 2017). These Db mice produced the satiety factor missing in Ob mice but could not respond to it. This led scientists to believe that the *db* gene encoded for the *ob* receptor (Fantuzzi and Faggioni, 2000). Then in 1994, the *ob* gene was isolated on chromosome 6 in mice and its protein product was named leptin, derived from the Greek word "leptos" meaning "thin" (Zhang *et al.*, 1994).

The majority of leptin is produced by adipose tissue, but is also produced in skeletal muscle, joint tissues, stomach and the placenta (Señarís *et al.*, 1997; Wang *et al.*, 1998; Bado *et al.*, 1998; Scotece *et al.*, 2014). Expression of leptin was also discovered in the male reproductive tract, specifically in spermatocytes of humans and mice as well as spermatozoa in humans (Aquila *et al.*, 2005; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2007; Herrid *et al.*, 2008).

Leptin receptors are highly expressed in the hypothalamus as well as the lung and kidney. Lower expression can also be found in the skeletal muscle, heart, liver, small intestines, pancreas, spleen and immune cells (Fei *et al.*, 1997; Matteis *et al.*, 1998; Chen *et al.*, 1999; Margetic *et al.*, 2002; Francisco *et al.*, 2018). Leptin receptor expression can also be found in male reproductive structures including spermatogonia and Leydig cells in mice, as well as spermatozoa and adult Leydig cells in humans (El-Hefnawy *et al.*, 2000; Jope *et al.*, 2003; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2007).

There are 6 isoforms of the leptin receptor, which are named Ob-Ra through Ob-Rf (Wasim et al., 2016). Forms Ob-Ra, Ob-Rc, Ob-Rd and Ob-Rf are classified as short forms due to their shorter intracellular domains, while Ob-Rb is the long form capable of STAT signal transduction and Ob-Re is secreted (Landry et al., 2013). Leptin receptors in the hypothalamus with signaling capabilities are in the long Ob-Rb category, while the short isoforms like Ob-Ra appear to predominate most peripheral tissues (Tartaglia, 1997; Tsiotra *et al.*, 2000). The mutation of this long Ob-Rb form is known for its connection with severe obesity in both human and mouse models (Wasim et al., 2016). This is because circulating leptin reaches the hypothalamus and binds with its Ob-Rb form's receptors to reduce appetite and help reduce food intake as well as increase energy consumption and metabolism (Friedman, 2002; Williams et al., 2009). Therefore, an increase in adipose tissue should produce increased amounts of leptin, which with the hypothalamus would inhibit appetite until the fat stores are depleted. The depletion of fat would then decrease the amount of leptin released and allow an increase in appetite once more (Friedman and Halaas, 1998).

Leptin is not only involved in satiety and obesity, but also in bone metabolism, immune responses, and reproductive function through the HPG axis. There are no leptin receptors on the GnRH neurons, though leptin still plays an important indirect role in GnRH release (Quennell *et al.*, 2009). In normal weight subjects, leptin released from adipose tissue travels to the hypothalamus and binds to receptors on KISS1 neurons, which promotes the release of GnRH (Irwig *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, the KISS1 neurons can also stimulate GnRH release by inhibiting NPY neurons, which inhibit GnRH release (Fu and van den Pol, 2010). Therefore, by inhibiting the NPY neurons, GnRH can be released again (Schwartz *et al.*, 1996).

Leptin dysfunction can be caused by either a genetic predisposition or a prolonged elevation of leptin levels. Congenital leptin dysfunction is a rare cause of severe early-onset obesity, with only 12 subjects identified. Leptin receptor mutations are even rarer, with only 8 subjects identified (Wabitsch *et al.*, 2015; Wasim *et al.*, 2016). The phenotypic features of the subjects with the receptor mutation are less severe than ones with the leptin deficiency (Farooqi *et al.*, 2007). This suggests that leptin can function without the use of the traditional leptin receptor by means of another pathway. Both congenital mutations, leptin deficiency and leptin receptor deficiency, can be positively impacted by leptin replacement therapy (Wasim *et al.*, 2016).

A second mechanism of leptin dysfunction is from leptin resistance caused by chronically increased leptin from obesity. Since adipose tissue is the major producer of leptin, circulating levels of leptin correlate with the amount of adipose tissue in the subject (Maffei *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, high levels of circulating leptin are seen in most obese individuals (Maffei *et al.*, 1995; Considine *et al.*, 1996). Leptin circulates in the

blood in both a bound and free form. Around 50% of leptin is bound in lean individuals, while in obese individuals, most of the leptin is free (Sinha *et al.*, 1996). Some explanations for this acquired resistance are leptin transport saturation across the blood-brain barrier, inability to activate or bind to the leptin receptor or its downstream signals, and the degradation or downregulation of leptin receptors (El-Haschimi *et al.*, 2000; Zabeau *et al.*, 2003).

In regards to the HPG axis, leptin resistance causes the Ob-Rb receptor on the KISS1 neurons to no longer function properly (Teerds et al., 2011). Due to this malfunction, the KISS1 neural expression in the arcuate nucleus is decreased, so inhibition of NPY is reduced in both Ob and Db mice and consequently GnRH release is doubly diminished (Stephens et al., 1995; de Luca et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2006). As a result, LH, FSH, and testosterone levels will also be reduced (Cunningham et al., 1999; Tsatsanis et al., 2015). Even though its been shown that FSH and LH receptor gene expression in Ob mice were significantly lower versus the control mice, this cannot necessarily be implied that FSH and LH levels are reduced in obese human males (Martins et al., 2017). In a study of human males, researchers noticed that the obese males had similar LH and FSH values as the non-obese controls (Isidori et al., 1999). While there are discrepancies between species relating to gonadotropins, both the mouse and human models show that increased leptin levels correlate with decreased testosterone levels, with the Ob mice having a 51% decrease in testosterone levels, as compared to the wild-type mice. This reduction of testosterone can result in impaired spermatogenesis through fewer spermatocytes, elongated spermatids and mature spermatozoa (Martins et al., 2017). NADPH oxidase 5 was also shown to be reduced,

which is vital for sperm motility (Chen *et al.*, 2015). Testicular atrophy in the form of decreased testicular mass and increased germ cell apoptosis was also noted in the Ob mice when compared to the wild-type mice (Bhat *et al.*, 2006; Martins *et al.*, 2017).

Ob and Db mice are considered sterile, though one study found that Ob male mice could occasionally reproduce (Mounzih *et al.*, 1997; Ewart-Toland *et al.*, 1999). The importance of leptin for fertility was additionally shown when Ob mice were given leptin treatments (Mounzih *et al.*, 1997). After the final treatment, the mouse's body weight and epididymal fat pad decreased, whereas testicular weight, mature sperm count in the seminiferous tubules and normal Leydig cell morphology increased (Mounzih *et al.*, 1997; Cleary *et al.*, 2001; Hoffmann *et al.*, 2016). These leptin-treated Ob mice all successfully impregnated lean females, showing successful restoration of fertility. Furthermore, they showed that weight loss alone is not enough to make Ob mice fertile, as leptin-deficient mice who lost weight through a diet, were still unable to impregnate lean females (Mounzih *et al.*, 1997).

There is a category of obese men with fertility problems that are resistant or insensitive to leptin. To further study the leptin-obesity-infertility relationship, several studies have used the previously mentioned genetically modified Ob and Db mouse models. Mice that lack the leptin gene are called Ob mice. Mice that lack only the long (Ob-Rb) form of the receptor are called Db mice. The other forms of the Ob-R receptor are believed to be unaffected in these Db mice (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). Overall, both mutant forms of mice have impaired leptin receptor communication and consequently both the Ob and Db modified strains of mice present with obesity, even early on at 3 to 5 weeks of age (Harlan, 2007). Additionally, at 3 months of age, Ob

mice in particular were 83% larger in body mass compared to wild-type mice (Martins *et al.*, 2017). Due to these results, leptin-deficient obese mouse models are used as a model to study the effects of obesity on male reproduction.

#### Previous Laboratory Findings

The Pearl lab has previously investigated key reproductive fertility parameters in C57, Ob and Db mice at 8 and 16 weeks of age. They found a significant increase in both the Ob and Db body weight compared to the C57. Conversely both the epididymides and testicles weighed less in both of the leptin-altered models as compared to the C57. Additionally, there appeared to be an increased distance between the initial segment of the epididymis and the superior aspect of the testis in the two leptin-altered models, when compared to the C57 control mice but this was not quantified. If real, this increase in distance might indicate a stretching of the efferent ducts due to the increase in adipose tissue.

When analyzing the sperm count in the testis at 16 weeks, production in Ob mice was decreased compared to the C57 wild-type, though Db mice were similar to C57. On the other hand, both the Ob and Db mice showed significantly decreased sperm counts at 16 weeks in the epididymis as compared to the C57 mice (Figure 2). This indicates, that the Db specifically had decreased sperm counts going from the testis to the epididymis. Additionally, all mouse models had the same sperm count in the epididymis at 8 weeks of age. Therefore, this decrease in epididymal sperm count at 16 weeks on both Ob and Db could explain why some breeding studies suggest a limited ability of Ob and Db to produce offspring.





Histologically, in the Ob and Db mouse models there were decreased epididymal

cauda tubule and lumen diameters, as well as increased epithelial cell height as

compared to the C57. Limited investigation also showed unidentified cellular debris in

the epididymal lumens of the Ob and Db mice, but was absent in the C57 mice (Figure

3). These altered epididymal appearances might indicate a blockage or obstruction of

luminal contents along the male reproductive tract. Additionally, there is some indication

of inflammation in the initial segment of the epididymis (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Histological Differences in the Initial Segment of the Epididymis in C57 Versus Ob and Db Obese Mice

3A) Cross-section of the C57 wild-type epididymis with nothing in the lumen. 3B) There is unidentified debris in the Ob initial segment epididymal lumen (black arrow) 3C) There is the same debris in the Db's epididymal lumen (black arrow) (Pearl and Doherty, 2018).

#### Immune System Components and their Basic Functions

The innate and adaptive immune systems provide protection against invading organisms. The innate immune system involves components like complement, neutrophils, macrophages (M $\phi$ ), dendritic cells (DC) and natural killer (NK) cells. These cells provide non-specific defense against a wide range of pathogens (Parham, 2005). The adaptive immune system, on the other hand, is acquired and is slower to respond. It reacts to specific antigens and can develop memory for improved responses to future infections. The adaptive immune system includes T and B lymphocyte cells and functions with the help from antigen-presenting cells like dendritic cells and macrophage cells (Parham, 2005).

The innate immune system is initiated immediately and can recognize various common antigens on pathogens. The complement system is made up of plasma proteins made by the liver and cover the surface of bacteria and virus particles to help other immune cells phagocytose them (Parham, 2005). Macrophages phagocytose and kill invading microorganisms, dead cells and cellular debris. Macrophages are usually the first cell to sense a pathogen. They secrete cytokines to recruit neutrophils and other leukocytes to the macrophage's infected area (Parham, 2005). Neutrophils can also phagocytose and kill microorganisms. They are shorter-lived than macrophages and form pus when they die at the site of infection (Parham, 2005). NK cells can also enter infected tissue and kill cells that contain viruses (Parham, 2005). Dendritic cells on the other hand leave their infected tissue and activate T and B cells of the adaptive immune system (Parham, 2005).

The innate immune system also activates the adaptive immune system. B cells have specific cell-surface pathogen receptors called immunoglobulins. B cells become activated and differentiate into effector B cells, or plasma cells, which secrete specific immunoglobulins that are now called antibodies. Antibodies can neutralize a pathogen by binding to a part of it, thus preventing the pathogen from binding with other cells, growing, or replicating. Antibodies can also help with opsonization by binding with a matching antigen on a pathogen and covering the pathogen's surface with the antibodies. Macrophages and neutrophils can then bind with the antibody and phagocytose the pathogen (Parham, 2005). T cells on the other hand have very specific T-cell receptors that are never secreted and these cells can differentiate into either Helper T (Th) cells or Cytotoxic T (Tc) cells. Tc cells kill infected cells, like the NK cells of the innate immune response. Th cells on the other hand, secrete cytokines that help other immune cells become full activated effector cells. Th1 cells for example, help macrophages phagocytose better, while Regulatory T cells (Tregs) regulate T cell

activity to prevent unnecessary tissue damage and stop the immune response once the infection is over (Parham, 2005).

#### The Immune System and Leptin

Leptin plays a role in inflammation, infections and immune responses. Leptin receptors have been found on leukocytes including monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, NK cells, DC cells and T and B lymphocytes (Zhao et al., 2003; Mattioli et al., 2005; Bruno et al., 2005; Papathanassoglou et al., 2006; Carlton et al., 2012). Leptin is described as a cytokine hormone with a structure similar to Interleukin 2 and 6 (Otero et al., 2006). Leptin increases the activation and the ability of neutrophils to undergo chemotaxis, while LEPR mutated animals had decreased neutrophil chemotaxis (Montecucco et al., 2006; Naylor et al., 2014). Additionally, leptin promotes macrophage chemotaxis as well as increasing their cytokine release and phagocytosis of dead cells (Gruen et al., 2007; Amarilyo et al., 2014; Dayakar et al., 2016). Conversely, leptinreceptor knockout mice have macrophages with decreased phagocytosis and diminished killing activity (Mancuso et al., 2012). Also due to leptin, NK cells increase their cytotoxicity and longevity. Leptin-receptor deficient (Db) mice on the other hand, showed decreased NK cell function with an increased apoptotic rate (Tian et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2003; Lo et al., 2009). DC cells also undergo less frequent apoptosis with leptin as well as an increase in migration (Lam et al., 2006). Alternatively, Db mice had a reduced number of DC cells due to increased apoptosis as well as a poor capacity to stimulate T cell proliferation (Lam et al., 2006). Leptin deficient (Ob) mouse models' DC

cells had reduced maturation and inflammatory cytokines but they were more efficient in inducing Tregs than wild-type mice (Moraes-Vieira *et al.*, 2014; Francisco *et al.*, 2018).

In regard to adaptive immunity, leptin secreted by human adipocytes promote T effector cell proliferation and limit Treg cell population expansion (Wagner *et al.*, 2013). Tregs (CD4+CD25+) are suppressors of autoimmunity and limit effector T cells as the end of infection nears. With decreased levels of leptin, effector T cells are reduced and Tregs are increased (Rosa *et al.*, 2007). Additionally, this trend in increased Tregs and resistance to autoimmunity is seen in Ob and Db mice; administration of leptin decreased the Treg population back down to the amount seen in the wild-type (Matarese *et al.*, 2010). With leptin, B cells had increased proliferation and cytokine production along with a decrease in apoptosis (Lam *et al.*, 2010). Then, with a lack of leptin in Ob and Db mice, there was a decrease in the number of B lymphocytes, which recovered with leptin treatment (Bennett *et al.*, 1996; Claycombe *et al.*, 2008; Francisco *et al.*, 2018).

As for the type of leptin receptor expressed in these immune cells, neutrophils only express the short, Ob-Ra, form (Francisco *et al.*, 2018). From this finding, neutrophils should not be affected by the Ob-Rb knockout seen in Db mice. Macrophages and DC cells on the other hand do express the long form (Sánchez-Margalet *et al.*, 2003; Mattioli *et al.*, 2005). Tsiotra et al. (2000) additionally found that mononuclear cells (T cells, B cells, NK cells and monocytes) in humans expressed both the long and short form in all samples tested. Specifically, they found that the short form was expressed an average of 8 times more than the long form in the samples. This relative difference in expression was reduced though in subjects with an overweight BMI
(BMI>26), which was also associated with significantly increased leptin levels. Additionally, the expression of both isoforms was reduced in overweight subjects compared to in lean individuals (BMI<25). This supports that a reduction in receptors is why leptin resistance occurs in throughout the body in obese individuals (Tsiotra *et al.*, 2000).

#### Immune System of the Male Reproductive Tract

Spermatogenesis begins at puberty, while the immune cells have matured and had immune tolerance set around the time of birth. Therefore, these now matured sperm have molecules on their surface that may be seen as foreign to the immune system's tolerance mechanisms (Guerau-de-Arellano et al., 2009). Immunological infertility is suggested to be the primary cause of unexplained infertility in males. In sub-Saharan African, the rate of infertile males with anti-sperm antibodies is 26.7% (Ekwere, 1995; Emeghe and Ekeke, 2017). Even in developed countries, where treatment to sexually transmitted infections is readily available, sperm autoantibodies are present in up to 10% of infertile males. This prevalence of autoimmune infertility supports that human sperm cells are commonly being seen as foreign by the immune system (Baker et al., 1983; Lenzi et al., 1997). While most autoimmunity throughout the human body is due to reactions against antigens that are normally ignored and is caused by a disruption of normal regulatory controls, autoimmunity in the reproductive tract involves antigens that would not normally be ignored (Aitken et al., 1987; Shetty et al., 1999; Bohring *et al.*, 2001).

Protection for the sperm then relies on several mechanisms and structures. First, there is the blood-testis barrier, which separates the interstitial space from the seminiferous tubules that contain the sperm. These tubules have occluding junctions between adjacent Sertoli cells, which separate the epithelial cells into two regions, the basal region and the more apical adluminal region. The adluminal portion contains the maturing germ cells and with these tight junctions, are protected from many different types of immune cells. Therefore, in a normal testis, lymphocytes are rarely, if ever, observed in the seminiferous tubules. Still, even though they are rarely seen in the basal layer, the immune cells could invade that outer layer of the tubule (Hedger, 2015).

Outside of the tubules, the interstitial compartment contains the Leydig cells, nerves, blood vessels and lymphatics of the testis. Specifically for immune cells in a healthy host, this compartment normally contains mostly macrophages, but also NK cells, T cells and possibly mast cells or eosinophils (el-Demiry *et al.*, 1985; Pöllänen and Niemi, 1987; Hutson, 1994; Tompkins *et al.*, 1998; Anton *et al.*, 1998; Hedger, 2015). The lymphatics in the interstitial space then exit to the local lumbar lymph nodes (Möller, 1980; Itoh *et al.*, 1998).

The majority of research on the immune system in the testis is in rat and mouse models. For a healthy mouse model, ratio of Leydig cells to macrophage cells in the interstitial space is 4-5:1 (Hume *et al.*, 1984; Hedger, 2015). These two cells types are thought to communicate as they have cytoplasmic interdigitations interlinking them together. Leydig cells and macrophages also undergo similar morphological and cytoplasmic size changes when there is testicular pathology (Geierhaas *et al.*, 1991; Hutson, 1992). Macrophages play a role in Leydig cell development and maintenance of

steroidal production in adulthood (Gaytan et al., 1994b; Gaytan et al., 1994a; Gaytan et al., 1994c). Studies have also shown that an increase in number and maintenance of macrophages actually depends on Leydig cells, though it did not appear that androgens were directly involved (Wang et al., 1994; Meinhardt et al., 1998). DC cells in the interstitial space are also under evaluated. Rival et al. (2007) though found that DC cells play a vital role in the initiation and maintenance of autoimmunity in the testis, with an increase in DC numbers with the progression of disease (Rival et al., 2007). In humans, there is also a population of mast cells in the interstitial tissue. Their role is unknown, but it has been suggested that they might play a role in the local innate immune system and possibly testicular blood flow (Hedger, 2015). The majority of T cells in the interstitium of the testis are consistent with the phenotype of activated or memory T cells, which could be a sign of autoimmunity or just previous infections. These T cells are specifically skewed towards CD8+ cells. There are a high amount of anergic and apoptotic T cells in this tissue though as compared to T cells in other tissues. Recently, Regulatory T cells (Tregs) and NK cells have also been seen (Tompkins et al., 1998; Hedger, 2015). Neutrophils differ from the other innate cells mentioned, as after testicular damage is the only time that they are anywhere in the testis (el-Demiry et al., 1985; Flickinger et al., 1997). The number of lymphocytes and macrophages also greatly increases in the interstitial space with testicular infection. This increase in immune cell count has a potential for the cells to break through the blood-testis barrier, which is associated with a decrease in spermatogenesis (Kohno et al., 1983; Doncel et al., 1989; Jahnukainen et al., 1995). While there are sparsely located lymphocytes in the interstitial tissue and none in the actual seminiferous tubules, immune cells are

present in the epithelium of the rete testis. This is because the rete testis does not have a secure blood-testis barrier like the seminiferous tubules (Dym and Romrell, 1975; el-Demiry *et al.*, 1985).

One big difference between the epididymis and the testis is the normal presence of immune cells in the epididymal epithelium. Within the epididymal epithelium are macrophages, dendritic cells and T cells. These immune cells have previously been referred to in literature as halo cells, which were thought to be some type of immunocompetent cells (Robaire and Hermo, 1988; Serre and Robaire, 1999). The epididymis has a tendency for larger amounts of epithelial and peritubular leukocytes to be at the initial segment and caput as compared to the cauda. Likewise, the caput also has more immunoregulatory molecule expression, like Activin A and indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO) (Flickinger *et al.*, 1997; Seiler *et al.*, 1999; Hedger, 2015).

Epididymal mononuclear phagocytes (MP's) consist of macrophages and dendritic cells. These cells have their nucleus at the basal region of the epithelium and project multiple intraepithelial dendrites that go towards the lumen of the tubule. These cells can be morphologically and antigenically confused with basal cells of the epididymis, though morphologically, basal cells only have one projection coming off each cell. Both cell types' projections decrease in length going down the epididymal segments (Mullen *et al.*, 2003; Da Silva *et al.*, 2011; Shum *et al.*, 2014). It has been proposed that the macrophages phagocytose the old and excessive sperm, while dendritic cells sample antigens in the lumen to show to the interstitial CD4+ T cells and local lymph nodes (Cooper *et al.*, 2002; Da Silva *et al.*, 2011). When it comes to T cells seen in the epithelium, there tend to be more CD8+ Cytotoxic T cells rather than CD4+

T Helper cells and Tregs (Ritchie *et al.*, 1984). B cells are not usually seen in the murine or human epididymis (el-Demiry *et al.*, 1985; Flickinger *et al.*, 1997).

Like in the testis, the interstitial space surrounding the epididymis normally contains macrophages, DC cells and T cells (Ritchie *et al.*, 1984; Nashan *et al.*, 1989; Yeung *et al.*, 1994; Da Silva *et al.*, 2011; Shum *et al.*, 2014). The majority of lymphocytes surrounding the epididymis in the interstitium are F4/80+ macrophages, while less than 2% are T cells (Nashan *et al.*, 1989). The F4/80 expression is lower in the interstitium though when compared to the epithelium. Also differing from the epithelium is that the T cell population in the interstitium has more CD4+ than CD8+ T cells (Ritchie *et al.*, 1984).

With damage to the epididymis, there is a potential for development of sperm autoimmunity, though the severity is decreased in epididymal regions closer to the testis (de Kretser *et al.*, 1998; Hedger, 2015). The lower amount of autoimmunity seen in the more proximal epididymal segments indicates a higher amount of local immunoregulatory mechanisms. Due to the epididymis being less restricted to immune cells as compared to the testis, the epididymis relies much more on tolerance than the testis does to protect the sperm. Immunosuppressive factors might diffuse from the testis to the epididymal fluid in the caput, explaining why there are more immunoregulatory molecules expressed in that area of the epididymis than the rest of the segments (de Kretser *et al.*, 1998). Another suggestion is that epididymal secretions cause modifications to the sperms' surface, which obscures sperm antigens (Eddy *et al.*, 1985).

Lymphatic drainage of the epididymis is favored around the cauda as compared to the other sections of the epididymis (Hirai *et al.*, 2010). While the lumbar lymph nodes drain the testis, the lymph nodes that drain the scrotum are the inguinal lymph nodes (Itoh et al., 1998; Jha, 2019).

Physical barriers do not provide all of the protection seen in the male reproductive tract, as there are also local immunoregulatory and immunosuppressive mechanisms to provide protection for the sperms' antigens (Meinhardt and Hedger, 2011). It has been explained that the immune cells that enter the male reproductive tract are modified to limit their proinflammatory activity and antigen-specific immune responses are very controlled. Hedger (2015) states that the immune privilege seen in the testicle is caused by several mechanisms including (1) maintenance of tolerance, (2) the blood-testis barrier, (3) testicular cells' reduced immunogenicity, (4) macrophages in the tissue being anti-inflammatory (5) Sertoli and Leydig cells having immunosuppressive properties, and (6) production of immunoregulatory/immunosuppressive cytokines locally (Hedger, 2015). Therefore, the male reproductive tract has a unique and varied immune system that still requires more research to understand its complexity.

#### **Chapter 3 Methodology**

#### Animal Model

The C57BL/6J mice were chosen for this study as it is an established model for the study of the male reproductive system, especially the Ob and Db strains in regards to obesity caused by leptin malfunction. Eighteen mice (6 of each genetic background) ranging from 6 to 10 weeks were acquired from Jackson Laboratory. Mice were housed 3 per cage with free access to standard mouse chow and water on a 12 hour on/off light cycle. Housing occurred for 6-10 weeks depending on initial age when received. All mice were sacrificed at 16 weeks of age. All procedures were approved by Grand Valley State University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

When the mice reached an age of 16 weeks, they were euthanized by CO<sub>2</sub> and body weight was collected. We then opened up the ventral abdomen and cut the diaphragm. On side 1 for each mouse, the epididymal fat pad was removed with the testis and epididymis attached. The distance between the superior edge of the testis to the beginning of the epididymis was measured with a digital caliper (Figure 4). The testis, epididymis, and fat pad were then separated and individually weighed. The testis was frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C. The epididymis was processed for tissue dissociation, while the fat pad was discarded. On side 2, the testis, epididymis, and associated fat pad structures were removed and the distance between the testis and epididymis was once more measured. The testis and proximal epididymis (initial segment, caput, corpus) remained intact and was fixed in Bouin's fixative. The cauda was separated, weighed and frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C.

reproductive structures were gathered and measured, the bilateral inguinal lymph nodes were dissected from each mouse and processed for tissue dissociation (Figure 5).



# Figure 4: 16-Week Db Mouse Epididymal Fat Pad with Testis and Epididymis Attached

Black arrow heads indicate where the points of the caliper were positioned for measuring the distance between the superior edge of the testis to the head of the epididymis.



Figure 5: 16-Week Db Mouse Inguinal Lymph Node Dissected from Surrounding Abdominal Cavity Fat

Black arrow indicates the slightly darker inguinal lymph node. Some lighter-colored abdominal fat is seen on the right.

#### Sperm Counts

The frozen cauda was thawed and processed for determination of sperm number. Each cauda and 2mls of filtered solution containing 0.9% NaCl with 0.05% Triton-X was placed into a test tube. The samples were then homogenized in the solution using an OmniTip tissue homogenizer for 30 seconds and transferred into 50ml conical tubes with solution added to it until it reached a volume of 10ml. The samples were then placed in the refrigerator for 24 hours.

After 24 hours, a portion of the mixture containing the sperm heads was loaded into a Bright-Line® hemacytometer and placed under a microscope using phase contrast at 40x. The sample was then counted by two different individuals who counted each sample two times (Figure 6). Counts were either obtained from five different 4x4 squares or, if smaller sperm counts, all 25 of the 4x4 squares were counted (Figure 7A and 7B). If one of the highlighted 4x4 squares was obscured, due to a bubble or clumping, then an adjacent 4x4 square was selected. After cleaning off the hemacytometer with DI water, this process was repeated for each sample.

Once counting was completed, the four sperm counts from each animal were then averaged and multiplied by 5 to get the total number of sperm per 25 square grid. That count was then multiplied by 10,000 to find how many sperm per ml of sample and then multiplied by 10 to find number of sperm per full 10ml sample. The total number of sperm in the 10ml is equal to the total number of sperm per cauda. Sperm per mg of cauda was also obtained by dividing sperm per cauda by the weight of the cauda in mg.



**Figure 6: Example of Sperm on a 4x4 Counting Square within a Hemacytometer** Sperm heads were counted if they were on or inside the middle of the three border lines surrounding the 4x4 counting square. Example of a counted sperm head (black arrow). Image shown used a 40x objective.





7A) "Counting Area" indicates section of slide that contained the sperm sample. This whole 5x5 area was used for counting when lower sperm counts were seen. 7B) Zoomed in picture of picture A. Each of the five blackened areas represents a 4x4 square within the larger 5x5 "Counting Area". Each of the five 4x4 blackened areas were counted when sperm counts were larger.

#### Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Tissues from an additional 18 mice (6 per genetic background) previously fixed in the Pearl lab were used for IHC of leptin receptor. Paraffin blocks containing the epididymis were cut with a microtome at 5µm and sections adhered onto slides. Slides were later dewaxed in Fisher's CitriSolv® and rehydrated sequentially in 100%, 95% and then 70% alcohol solutions. Samples were then rinsed in tap water for 5 minutes and incubated in 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and Fisher's HistoPrep<sup>™</sup> Methanol for 30 minutes. After a wash in PBST, antigen retrieval with heat and Vector's Antigen Unmasking Solution was performed, followed by another wash in PBST. Slides were then placed in humidifying chambers with Vectastain® Elite ABC Rabbit IgG kit blocking serum, Invitrogen's primary leptin receptor (LepR) polyclonal rabbit IgG antibody at a concentration of 1:1,000 (or PBST or NRS for negative controls at 1:10,000) was added to the slides to incubate for 24 hours at 4°C.

After 24 hours, the primary antibody was removed, slides washed with PBST, and biotinylated secondary antibody was added for 30 minutes. Slides were then washed once more in PBST and an ABC enzyme solution was added to incubate for 30 minutes. Vector® NovaRED<sup>™</sup> peroxidase substrate was then added and subsequently rinsed off in tap water. Slides were then rinsed with DI water and counterstained with ImmunoMaster Hematoxylin. Finally, slides were dehydrated in increasing alcohol concentrations and CitriSolv® before being cover slipped with CoverSafe<sup>™</sup> Histology mounting medium. Immunostaining was visualized with a Nikon Eclipse Ni-U Compound microscope and images captured using NiS elements software.

#### Flow Cytometry

#### Tissue Digestion, Antibody Incubation, and Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry was performed on cells isolated from the epididymal regions and the inguinal lymph nodes. Upon dissection, tissues were individually placed in FACS buffer (PBS with 1% FBS) on ice. The epididymis samples were separated into initial segment/caput, corpus and cauda and then minced further. Each of the three minced sections were then mixed with prewarmed FACS buffer and left for 10 minutes in an attempt to allow the sperm to separate from the rest of the tissue sample. After settling, the supernatant was removed and the remaining tissue sample was resuspended in 10ml of FACS with Sigma's 1.0mg/ml collagenase type I and 1.0mg/ml collagenase type II for 45 minutes in a 37°C shaking water bath.

The enzyme-digested epididymis regions and inguinal lymph nodes were poured and crushed through a 70- $\mu$ m nylon mesh cell strainer into a conical tube using a syringe plunger. The samples were then centrifuged at 4°C for 7 minutes, supernatant was again removed, and the pellets/cells resuspended in 2ml of FACS buffer. The cell suspension was transferred into 1ml flow cytometry tubes (1ml for the innate and 1ml for the adaptive panel) and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1500rpm. After once more discarding the supernatant, the FACS-diluted Tonbo's Anti-Human/Mouse or Thermo Fisher's (for Live/Dead) innate and adaptive antibody panels were added and mixed into each tube. Specifically, for the innate panel CD11b at 1:400 (all innate immune cells), CD11c at 1:400 (dendritic cells), F4/80at 1:400 (macrophage cells) and Live/Dead at 1  $\mu$ L per mL (dead cells) were used. For the adaptive panel CD4 at 1:400 (Helper T cells),

CD8 at 1:400 (Cytotoxic T cells), CD19 at 1:500 (B cells), and Live/Dead at 1  $\mu$ L per mL (dead cells) were used. Samples were then covered from light and incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. After incubation, 750 $\mu$ l of FACS buffer was added and tubes were once again centrifuged for 5 minutes and then supernatant discarded. The final pellets were resuspended in 200 $\mu$ l of FACS buffer and stored and protected from light at 4°C until each sample was run through a Beckman Coulter CytoFLEX flow cytometer. Inguinal lymph node samples were run through the machine for roughly 3 minutes at fast speed (60 $\mu$ l/ml). The caput and corpus samples were run for approximately 3.5 minutes at medium speed (30 $\mu$ l/min). The epididymal cauda segment samples were run at slow speed for roughly 4.5-5 minutes at slow speed (10 $\mu$ l/min).

#### Gating Strategy

After samples were sorted by flow cytometry, data was saved onto a flash drive for later analysis using the software program FlowJo<sup>™</sup> Version 10.7. For all lymph node samples, we first gated for singlet cells with SSC-H on the x-axis and SSC-A on the yaxis (Figure 8A). Next, we gated to isolate the live cells with FSC-A on the x-axis and Live/Dead-A on the y-axis (Figure 8B).

For inguinal lymph nodes incubated with antibodies to innate immune cell markers, we then gated for cells that highly expressed CD11b, which is a marker found on all innate immune cells. The x-axis was set to CD11b and the y-axis was FSC-A (Figure 8C). Then from the CD11b+ cells, we gated areas with high expression of specific innate immune cell markers CD11c (dendritic cells) and F4/80 (macrophage cells). This graph had F4/80-A on the x-axis and CD11c-A on the y-axis. The three

areas on this graph included CD11c+ and F4/80+ cells, CD11c+ and F4/80- cells, and CD11c- and F4/80+ cells (Figure 8D).



Figure 8: Lymph Node Gating for Dendritic (DC) and Macrophage ( $M\phi$ ) Cells 8A) Gating for singlet cells. 8B) Gating for live cells. 8C) Gating for CD11b+ (innate immune) cells. 8D) Gating for macrophage and dendritic cells, which commonly express either/both CD11c and F480.

For inguinal lymph nodes incubated with antibodies to adaptive immune cell markers, we again kept the same gates as the innate inguinal lymph nodes for first singlet cells and then live cells (Figure 9A and 9B and 10A and 10B). Then, we put a gate to isolate the area where the immune cells should be with the x-axis being FSC-A and the y-axis being SSC-A (Figures 9C and 10C). After that gate, we then gated for T Helper cells (Th) and B cells with CD19-A on the x-axis and CD4-A on the y-axis (Figure 9D). We then changed the y-axis to CD8-A to gate for the Cytotoxic T cells (Tc) (Figure 10D).



**Figure 9: Lymph Node Gating for Helper T (Th) and B Cells** 9A) Gating for singlet cells. 9B) Gating for live cells. 9C) Gating for immune cells. 9D) Gating for Th and B cells.



**Figure 10: Lymph Node Gating for Cytotoxic T (Tc) Cells** 10A) Gating for singlet cells. 10B) Gating for live cells. 10C) Gating for immune cells. 10D) Gating for Tc cells.

For the epididymal regions incubated with antibodies to innate immune cell markers, we used similar gating as we did for the inguinal lymph nodes. Therefore, we first kept the same gates for singlet cells, then live cells, and then CD11b+ cells. Then out of the CD11b+ cells, we gated for the CD11c+ and F4/80+ cells, the CD11c+ and F4/80- cells, and the CD11c- and F4/80+ cells (Figures 11A - 11D).



Figure 11: Epididymis Gating for Potential DC and  $M\phi$  Cells 11A) Gating for singlet cells. 11B) Gating for live cells. 11C) Gating for CD11b+ (innate immune cells). 11D) Gating for potential macrophage and dendritic cells by gating for their common markers (CD11c and F4/80).

When gating epididymal segments incubated with antibodies to adaptive immune cell markers, we first gated for singlet cells and then live cells using the same gates as for the inguinal lymph nodes (Figure 12A, 13A, 14A and 12B, 13B, 14B). Then we gated for specific adaptive immune cell markers CD4 (T helper cells), CD8 (Cytotoxic T cells) and CD19 (B cells) with those markers on the x-axis and FSC-A on the y-axis (Figures 12C, 13C and 14C).



**Figure 12: Epididymis Gating for Th (CD4+) Cells** 12A) Gating for singlet cells. 12B) Gating for live cells. 12C) Gating for CD4+ cells.



**Figure 13: Epididymis Gating for Tc (CD8+) Cells** 13A) Gating for singlet cells. 13B) Gating for live cells. 13C) Gating for CD8+ cells.



**Figure 14: Epididymis Gating for B (CD19+) Cells** 14A) Gating for singlet cells. 14B) Gating for live cells. 14C) Gating for CD19+ cells.

## **Data/Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (Version 8). Body, organ weights, testis to epididymis distance and sperm counts were analyzed by ANOVA. If the overall ANOVA was significant (p<0.05), differences between groups were determined using Tukey's multiple comparison test. Values reported are means  $\pm$  SEM. For immunohistochemistry, a positive staining for leptin-receptor in the

epididymis was indicated by a deep red color when compared to the much lighter negative control NRS. Data are reported as positive or negative for each region.

Lymph node cell populations identified by flow cytometry were analyzed by ANVOA. If the ANOVA was significant, differences between groups were analyzed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. Epididymis cell populations identified by flow cytometry were analyzed by a two-factor ANOVA with region and genetic background as the factors. If the ANOVA was significant, differences between groups within a region and differences between regions within a group were analyzed by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Innate immune cell data is presented as 1) the percentage of live cells that are CD11b+; 2) the percent of CD11b+ cells that are CD11c+ and/or F4/80+; 3) the percentage of CD11b+ cells that are CD11c+ and F4/80-; and 4) the percentage of CD11b+ cells that are CD11c- and F4/80+.

Adaptive immune cell data for lymph nodes is presented as the percentage of immune cells positive for CD4, CD8 or CD19. Adaptive immune cell data for the epididymis is presented as the percentage of live cells within a region positive for CD4, CD8, or CD19.

### **Chapter 4 Results**

### **Reproductive Parameters**

The body weights of the leptin-disrupted mouse models (Ob and Db) were both significantly larger weighing  $56.15 \pm 2.45g$  and  $56.55 \pm 3.00g$  respectively compared to the control (C57) mice at  $27.94 \pm 0.517g$  (p<0.0001) (see Figure 15A). Likewise, the Ob and Db epididymal fat pads weighed significantly more at  $1.69 \pm 0.09g$  and  $1.91 \pm 0.15g$  versus the control at  $0.218 \pm 0.02g$  (p<0.0001) (see Figure 15B). Conversely, the average testis weight of the Ob and Db mouse models were significantly less at 0.0771  $\pm 0.006g$  (p=0.0026) and  $0.0843 \pm 0.06g$  (p=0.0185) as compared to the control mice at 0.107  $\pm 0.003g$  (see Figure 15C). Similarly, the average epididymis weight of the Ob and Db mice was significantly less at  $0.0313 \pm 0.003g$  (p=0.0005) and  $0.0345g \pm 0.001$  (p=0.0044) when compared to the control mice at  $0.0454 \pm 0.002g$  (see Figure 15D).





Unmeasured, the distance from the superior edge of the testis to the initial

segment of the epididymis previously appeared farther upon visual inspection.

Quantitatively it was shown to be significantly longer in the Ob and Db models at 6.02  $\pm$ 

0.41mm and 6.40  $\pm$  0.36mm as compared to 2.91  $\pm$  0.26mm in the control model

(p<0.0001) (Figure 16).



**Figure 16: Distance between Testis and Initial Segment** There is an increased testis to initial segment of the epididymis in the Ob and Db mouse models as compared to the C57. (*"a" vs "b" indicates significant difference between genetic models*)

The average sperm per epididymal cauda was significantly lower in the Ob and Db models at  $8.35 \times 10^6 \pm 2.06$  and  $5.67 \times 10^6 \pm 1.49$  respectively (p<0.0001) as compared to the control mice at  $24.7 \times 10^6 \pm 0.811$  (Figure 17A). When calculating the average as sperm per mg of cauda, the Db model still had significantly less sperm at  $1.07 \times 10^6 \pm 0.164$  when compared to C57 at  $1.81 \times 10^6 \pm 0.102$  (p=0.0300), though neither were significantly different from the Ob at  $1.27 \times 10^6 \pm 0.250$  (p=0.7409;p=0.1197) (Figure 17B).







17A) The sperm per cauda was significantly lower in the Ob and Db as compared to the C57. 17B) The sperm per mg of cauda was significantly lower in the Db as compared to the C57, but the Ob was not significantly different from the C57 or Db. *("a" vs "b" indicates significant difference between genetic models)* 

#### Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

In regards to the basic anatomy of the samples, the tubule segments contained pseudostratified epithelium which lined the basement membrane. Within the epithelial cell layer, there were principal cells with stereocilia projecting into the lumen. The lumen contained sperm and increased in size going down the segments, which led to a decrease in epithelial cell height. Outside of the basement membrane, the tubule was surrounded by smooth muscle and then dense connective tissue was in between all the tubule segments (Figures 18 A-F).

The initial segment (IS)/caput and corpus segments incubated with NRS were negative (Figures 18A and 18C). The cauda was mostly negative except for some nonspecific immunostaining of the dense connective tissue surrounding the tubule (Figure 18E). The caput was negative for leptin receptor immunostaining (Figure 18B). The corpus and cauda conversely, had positive immunostaining, specifically in the principal cell cytoplasm (Figures 18D and 18F).



**Figure 18: IHC Images of the C57 Caput, Corpus and Cauda (50 μm Scale)** 18A) IS/Caput segment with NRS. 18B) IS/Caput segment when stained for leptin receptor. 18C) Corpus segment with NRS. 18D) Positive principal cell cytoplasm in corpus segment when stained for leptin receptor (arrow). 18E) Cauda segment with NRS; arrow indicates non-specific interstitium staining. 18F) Positive principal cell cytoplasm in cauda segment when stained for leptin receptor (arrow).

### Flow Cytometry

### Inguinal lymph nodes

The percentage of CD11b+ cells from the gated live cells in the inguinal lymph nodes was not significantly different between genetic backgrounds. The percentage in C57 was  $0.332 \pm 0.041\%$ , Ob was  $0.282 \pm 0.025\%$ , and Db was  $0.335 \pm 0.070\%$  (p=0.74) (Figure 19). The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were then also CD11c+ and F4/80+ was significantly larger in the Ob and Db models at  $53.5 \pm 9.17\%$  and  $58.7 \pm 5.7\%$  when compared to the C57 model at  $23.4 \pm 2.84\%$  (p=0.01; p=0.002) (Figure 20A). The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were CD11c+ but F4/80- was significantly lower in Ob and Db mice at  $30.4 \pm 7.36\%$  and  $25.9 \pm 3.94\%$  as compared to C57 mice at  $56.3 \pm 2.41\%$  (p=0.005; p=0.0009) (Figure 20B). The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were F4/80+ but CD11c- was not significantly different among mouse models with C57 at  $3.71 \pm 1.44\%$ , Ob at  $3.95 \pm 1.18\%$ , and Db at  $5.26 \pm 1.05\%$  (p=0.64) (Figure 20C).



**Figure 19: Percentage of Cells Expressing CD11b in Inguinal Lymph Nodes** Percentages of live cells in the inguinal lymph nodes that express high amounts of CD11b (innate immune cell marker) are not statistically different between the genetic backgrounds.







## Figure 20: Expression of CD11c and F4/80 among CD11b+ cells from Inguinal Lymph Nodes

20A) Percentage of the CD11b+ cells that also express high amounts of CD11c (DC cell marker) and F4/80 (M $\phi$  marker) are significantly higher in leptin-modified models when compared to C57. 20B) Percentage of the CD11b+ cells that express high amounts of CD11c but not F4/80 was smaller in the Ob and Db models when compared to the C57 model. 20C) Percentage of the CD11b+ cells that express high amounts of F4/80 but not CD11c was not significantly different among the genetic backgrounds.

When looking at the panel for adaptive immune cell markers in the inguinal lymph nodes, none of the genetic backgrounds were significantly different for any of the markers. For the frequency of T-helper (Th) cells, which highly express CD4 (Th marker) and have a low expression of CD19 (B cell marker), percentages were not significantly different with C57 at  $21.3 \pm 0.975\%$ , Ob at  $20.9 \pm 3.83\%$ , and Db at  $18.6 \pm 2.06\%$  (p=0.685) (Figure 21A). The frequency of cytotoxic T cells (Tc), which have high expression of CD8 (Tc marker) and low expression of CD19 (B cell marker) were also not significantly different at  $29.3 \pm 1.27\%$  for C57,  $24.7 \pm 3.54\%$  for Ob, and  $22.4 \pm 1.32\%$  (p=0.0833) (Figure 21B). Lastly, B cell frequency which highly express CD19 (B cell marker) and have low expression of CD4, was also not significantly different at  $35.5 \pm 2.38\%$  for C57,  $38.3 \pm 8.36\%$  for Ob, and  $40.9 \pm 2.79\%$  for Db (p=0.725) (Figure 21C).





# Figure 21: Adaptive Immune Cell Marker Expression in Cells from Inguinal Lymph Nodes

21A) No significant difference between genetic models in frequency of cells that have high expression of CD4 and low expression of CD19 (gated as Th cells). 21B) No significant difference between genetic models in frequency of cells that have high expression of CD8 and low expression of CD19 (gated as Tc cells). 21C) No significant difference between genetic models in frequency of cells that have high expression of CD19 and low expression of CD4 (gated as B cells).

#### Epididymal segments

After looking at the inguinal lymph nodes, we analyzed and compared the innate and adaptive immune cell markers in the IS/caput, corpus and cauda epididymal segments for the three mouse models. The percentage of CD11b+ cells from the gated live cells was significantly different between epididymal segments of the same genetic background. Specifically, the percentages in the IS/caput segments of all three models were significantly higher than the cauda with C57 at 2.43  $\pm$  0.37% and 0.86  $\pm$  0.57% (p=0.033), Ob at 3.21  $\pm$  0.23% and 0.72  $\pm$  0.16% (p=0.0004), and Db at 2.97  $\pm$  0.32% and  $1.10 \pm 0.41\%$  (p=0.0088). In addition to being larger than the cauda, the Ob mouse model's IS/caput percentage was also significantly larger than the corpus' which was  $1.1 \pm 0.11\%$  (p=0.003). There were no significant differences between genetic backgrounds of the same epididymal segment (p=0.78) (Figure 22). When looking at CD11b+ cells that were then also CD11c+ and F4/80+ there was no significant difference between genetic backgrounds or epididymis segments (p=0.21; p >0.05) (Figure 23A). In percentage of cells that were CD11b+ and then were CD11c+ but F4/80-, the only significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background was in the C57 model. In this model, the cauda at 8.91± 4.66% was significantly higher than the IS/caput and corpus at 1.28  $\pm$  0.20% and 3.35  $\pm$  0.64 (p=0.0041; p= 0.045) (Figure 23B). In regards to the difference in percentages in that same cell type between genetic models in the same epididymal segment, the Ob and Db models had significantly lower percentages in the cauda at 3.0  $\pm$  0.30% and 2.44  $\pm$ 0.30% as compared to the C57 at 8.91  $\pm$  4.66% (p=0.031; p=0.017) (Figure 23B). Lastly, when comparing the percentage of CD11b+ cells that were then F4/80+ but

CD11c-, the only significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background was that the corpus of C57 at 16.8  $\pm$  6.9% was significantly higher than C57's cauda at 5.68  $\pm$  0.65% (p=0.013) (Figure 23C). In regard to differences in percentages of the same cell type among different genetic background with the same epididymal segment, the Db corpus at 6.74  $\pm$  1.1% was significantly lower than C57 at 16.8  $\pm$  6.9% (p=0.027) but neither was significantly different from the Ob at 8.47  $\pm$  1.5% (p=0.89; p=0.079) (Figure 23C).



## Figure 22: Percentage of Cells Expressing CD11b in Epididymal Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda)

The percentage of CD11b+ cells in the gated live cells differed among epididymal segments of the same genetic background. All three genetic backgrounds had a higher percentage in the IS/caput than the cauda. Additionally, the Ob mice had a significantly larger percent in the IS/caput as compared to the corpus. ("\*" indicates significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background; "a" vs "b" indicates significant difference between genetic backgrounds of the same epididymal segment)







## Figure 23: Expression of CD11c and F4/80 Among CD11b+ Cells from Epididymal Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda)

23A) There was no significant differences in percentage of CD11b+ cells that were also CD11c+ and F4/80+ between either different genetic backgrounds or epididymal segments in the mouse models. 23B) The C57 mouse model's cauda percentage of CD11b+ cells that were also CD11c+ but F4/80- was significantly higher than the IS/caput and corpus. Additionally, the Ob and Db caudas' percentages were significantly lower than the C57 cauda. 23C) The C57 corpus percentage was significantly higher in CD11b+ cells that were then F4/80+ and CD11c- when compared to C57's cauda. Additionally, the Db's corpus percentage was significantly lower than the C57 corpus. *("\*" indicates significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background; "a" vs "b" indicates significant difference between genetic backgrounds of the same epididymal segment)* 

The adaptive immune system markers of CD4, CD8, and CD19 were then analyzed for the three epididymal segments among the different genetic backgrounds. There was no significant difference in the percentages of CD4+ cells between genetic models or epididymal segments (p=0.44; p>0.05) (Figure 24A). There were significant differences though in percentages of CD8+ cells. Between genetic backgrounds, the percentage of CD8+ cells in the cauda was significantly lower in the Ob at 0.21  $\pm$ 0.054% and the Db at 0.37  $\pm$  0.17% as compared to the C57 at 1.77  $\pm$  1.1% (p=0.013; p=0.029) (Figure 24B). In regards to CD8+ cells between epididymal segments of the same genetic background, there was also a significant increase in CD8+ cells in the cauda of C57 mice as compared to their IS/caput and corpus which are 0.26  $\pm$  0.031% and 0.31  $\pm$  0.05% (p=0.017; p=0.022) (Figure 24B). There was no significant difference in the percentage of CD19+ cells between genetic models or epididymal segments (p=0.12; p=0.16) (Figure 24C).







## Figure 24: Adaptive Immune Cell Marker Expression in Cells from Epididymal Segments (IS/Caput, Corpus, and Cauda)

24Å) There is no significant difference in percentages of CD4+ cells between the genetic backgrounds or the epididymal segments. 24B) The percentage of CD8+ cells was higher in the C57 cauda compared to the C57 IS/caput and corpus. Also, the Ob and Db's cauda percentages are lower than the C57 cauda's percentage. 24C) There is no significant difference in percentages of CD19+ cells between the genetic backgrounds or the epididymal segments. (*"\*" indicates significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background; "a" vs "b" indicates significant difference backgrounds of the same genetic background; "a" vs "b" indicates significant difference between difference backgrounds of the same epididymal segment)* 

#### **Chapter 5 Discussion and Conclusions**

This study includes the first immunohistochemical description of leptin receptor expression in the mouse epididymis and the first description of immune cell composition in the Ob and Db mouse epididymis.

Previous research show that Ob and Db mice have increased body weight and fat over the C57 (Kobayashi et al., 2000; Wasim et al., 2016; Wauman et al., 2017). Our Ob and Db mice have double the body weight and eight times the epididymal fat pad weight versus the C57 mice. Previous research also shows that Ob and Db mice have reduced reproductive parameters including a decrease in testosterone, fewer spermatocytes and mature spermatozoa, and decreased testicular mass (Mounzih et al., 1997; Cleary et al., 2001; Bhat et al., 2006; Hoffmann et al., 2016; Martins et al., 2017). In accordance with this previous research, the testis and epididymal weights were significantly reduced in the Ob and Db mice as compared to the C57. Additionally, the average sperm per cauda was reduced in Ob and Db mice versus the control. Not reported before, but quantified here, is that the distance from the superior edge of the testis to the initial segment of the epididymis is double the length in the Ob and Db mouse models as compared to the C57 mice. This increase in distance might indicate stretching of the efferent ducts and be a potential cause for the decrease in epididymal sperm count, and thus decreased fertility, seen in these leptin-altered mouse models.

Future work on the topic of the effects of altered leptin signaling in the post-testis environment could develop from the now quantified increased distance between the superior edge of the testis and the initial segment of the epididymis. As mentioned in our results, the obese Ob and Db mouse models had double the length in between

these structures as compared to the C57 wild-type. This increase in distance could indicate a stretching of efferent ducts in between the two structures and present a possibility that the efferent ducts are altered due to this change in arrangement. If the efferent ducts are altered due to stretching, this increased distance could account for the decrease in sperm count previously seen going from the testis to the epididymis in Db mice (Pearl and Doherty, 2018). Alteration of the efferent ducts' configuration could be investigated by dissecting the efferent ducts out from the epididymal fat pad and comparing their appearances between the C57 and leptin-altered mouse models. One idea is that the decreased sperm counts could be due to breakages in the efferent ducts due to stretching. The difficulty with this idea is that efferent ducts are very small and might be hard to dissect out without breaking connections between ducts. Additionally, blind-ending tubules are commonly seen among the efferent ducts in mammals and can be mistaken for broken efferent ducts (Guttroff et al., 1992). There are histological differences though to these blind-ending tubules like containing small diameters, are surrounded by thick dense connective tissue, and their epithelium stain more intensely (Guttroff et al., 1992). Therefore, investigating the stretching and potential breakage of the efferent ducts might be difficult.

Immunohistochemistry on C57 epididymal segments revealed that leptin-receptor is expressed in the mouse epididymis. Expression was observed in the principal cell cytoplasm of the corpus and cauda segments, but not in the initial segment or caput. Therefore, not only does leptin have an indirect effect on male reproductive structures through the HPG axis (Cunningham *et al.*, 1999; Irwig *et al.*, 2004; Quennell *et al.*,

2009; Teerds *et al.*, 2011; Tsatsanis *et al.*, 2015), but leptin could also have a direct effect on the corpus and cauda of the epididymis.

Leptin has an indirect effect on the epididymis due to its interaction with the HPG axis. Leptin, which is mostly produced in adipose tissue, binds with its receptors on KISS1 neurons to stimulate the release of GnRH in the hypothalamus (Irwig *et al.*, 2004; Scotece *et al.*, 2014). GnRH then travels to the anterior pituitary to allow production and release of LH and FSH, which travels to the testis. LH attaches to the Leydig cells in the interstitial space to promote the synthesis of testosterone. Both testosterone and FSH can stimulate spermatogenesis in Sertoli cells (Robaire *et al.*, 2010b). Mice with leptin signaling interrupted have testicular atrophy and impaired spermatogenesis (Martins *et al.*, 2017).

Our results indicate that the corpus and cauda of the epididymis can also be directly impacted by leptin. The corpus is where sperm mature, start developing motility, and acquire fertilizing ability. The cauda is where the sperm are stored until ejaculation and anywhere from 50-80% of sperm that are in the epididymis are in the cauda at any given time (Robaire and Hinton, 2015). Cauda epithelial cells also secrete factors to help maintain the luminal environment and a pH that keeps sperm in a "dormant" state. Another suggestion is that epididymal secretions cause modifications to the sperms' surface, which obscures sperm antigens (Eddy *et al.*, 1985). Additionally, while the majority of fluid absorption to increase sperm concentration occurs in the initial segment and caput, additional absorption occurs in the corpus and cauda (Turner, 1984; Robaire and Hinton, 2015). Our finding of leptin-receptor in the principal cells of the corpus and cauda is relevant as principal cells are vital for fluid and nutrient exchange in the
epididymis (Robaire and Hinton, 2015). Therefore, since leptin receptor is expressed in the corpus and cauda, it's a possibility that these epididymal functions are partially regulated by leptin and may be impaired when leptin signaling is altered.

We hypothesized that there would be a difference in immune cell percentages for Ob and Db mice as compared to the C57 mice. We reasoned this since leptin receptors have been found on leukocytes including monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, NK cells, DC cells and T and B lymphocytes (Zhao *et al.*, 2003; Mattioli *et al.*, 2005; Bruno *et al.*, 2005; Papathanassoglou *et al.*, 2006; Carlton *et al.*, 2012), then altering leptin signaling would cause changes to the immune cell concentrations. The inguinal lymph nodes in our study did not show any significant difference in adaptive immune cell population percentages, though there were some differences in the innate immune cell population percentages. The percentage of CD11b+ cells that were CD11c+ and F4/80+ were increased in Ob and Db mice as compared to C57 mice. Conversely, the percentage of CD11b+ cells that were CD11c+ and F4/80- were decreased in Ob and Db mice as compared to the C57. While there were few significant differences in immune cell profiles in the inguinal lymph nodes, there were more changes in the immune cell percentages in the epididymis.

The cell populations that showed significant difference between epididymal segments of the same genetic background were 1) CD11b+ cells, 2) CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells, 3) CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells, and 4) CD8+ cells. The CD11b+ cells were significantly higher in the C57's and Db's IS/caput as compared to the cauda. The Ob also had a significantly higher CD11b+ cell percentage in the IS/caput, which was higher than both the corpus and the cauda. In regards to the

CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells, only the C57 showed any differences, with the cauda having a significantly higher percentage as compared to both the IS/caput and corpus. Likewise, the CD8+ cells showed an increased percentage in the C57 cauda as compared to the C57 IS/caput and corpus. Similarly, with the CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells, only the C57 showed any difference, with now the corpus being significantly higher in percentage as compared to the cauda. Overall, in the C57 model the CD11b+ cells and the CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells tended to decrease going down the epididymis, while the CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells and CD8+ cells increased going down the epididymis. The only cell population that changed with epididymal segment in the Ob and Db models was CD11b+, which like C57, decreased from IS/caput to cauda.

The trend of decreasing immune cell populations down the epididymal segments is consistent with previous research in the murine epididymis. Previous research found that macrophage cells (F4/80+), DC cells (CD11c+) and CD8+ (Tc) cells were more prevalent in the caput epididymis as compared to the cauda (Flickinger *et al.*, 1997; Hedger, 2015). We found that CD11b+ cells (all innate immune cells) and CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells (potential M $\phi$  cells) in C57 agreed with previous research, while the CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells (potential DC cells) and CD8+ cells (Tc cells) in C57 showed the opposite trend. Still, one study did agree with our trend of increased potential dendritic cells in the cauda as compared to the more proximal segments (Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020).

It's been argued that this higher amount of dendritic cells seen in the cauda is because it's the location for sperm storage. These DC cells might protect the sperm from the immune system while they are awaiting ejaculation. Additionally, since bacteria

external to the body can enter distally in the reproductive tract, these DC cells could be used to help regulate an immune response against invading pathogens as DC cells activate T cells (Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020). Alternatively, the macrophage cell population is reported to be higher in the caput as compared to the cauda (Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020). It's been suggested that this cell population may be used to establish an immune privileged environment for sperm, against both pathogens and autoimmune responses. Macrophages in the epididymis accomplish this by their dendrites that extend out into the epididymal lumen to sample for potential antigens. Macrophages are known for their role in clearing debris and initiating an innate immune response (Hume, 2008; Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020).

The cell populations that showed any significant differences between genetic backgrounds of the same epididymal segment were 1) CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells, 2) CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells, and 3) CD8+ cells. For CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells, the Ob's and Db's cauda had significantly smaller percentages when compared to the C57 cauda. Likewise, when looking at the CD8+ cells, the Ob and Db caudas had significantly smaller percentages than the C57 cauda's. Along the same lines, when looking at the CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells, the Db corpus had a significantly smaller percentage than the C57 corpus' but neither was different from the Ob's. Overall, the differences that were seen in immune cell profiles between genetic backgrounds tended to show a decrease in percentage of immune cells with altered leptin function.

The decrease in percentage of immune cells in epididymis Ob and Db mice is consistent with previous literature of non-epididymal immune cell populations in Ob and Db mice. We found that CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80- cells (probable DC cells),

CD11b+/CD11c-/F4/80+ cells (probable M $\varphi$  cells), and CD8+ cells (Tc cells) were all reduced in various portions of the Ob and Db mouse models as compared to C57. Previous literature states that leptin increases migration of DC cells as well as increases their longevity, while leptin-altered mice have increased apoptosis, reduced maturation, and poor capacity to stimulate T cell proliferation (Lam *et al.*, 2006; Moraes-Vieira *et al.*, 2014; Francisco *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, leptin promotes the macrophage function, while leptin-altered models have decreased functioning (Gruen *et al.*, 2007; Mancuso *et al.*, 2012; Amarilyo *et al.*, 2014; Dayakar *et al.*, 2016). In regards to Tc cells, leptin causes an increase in effector T cells and reduces the amount of Tregs (Wagner *et al.*, 2013). Conversely, decreased amount of leptin leads to a decrease in the amount of Tc cells and Tregs are increased (Rosa *et al.*, 2007).

A decrease in epididymal innate immune cells could be problematic for the sperm of leptin-signaling altered mice. M $\phi$  and DC cells are thought to protect the sperm from both pathogens and an immune response to self. Sperm antibodies are thought to be the most common cause of unexplained infertility, with their presence in up to 10% of male infertility cases in developed countries (Baker *et al.*, 1983; Lenzi *et al.*, 1997). Moreover, the decrease in tolerance mechanisms for the sperm could be a bigger problem since the blood-epididymal barrier is not as elaborate as the blood-testis barrier and could therefore let outside immune cells interact with the sperm more easily (Hedger, 2015).

The immune cell populations that did not show any significant differences in the epididymis were 1) CD11b+/CD11c+/F4/80+ cells 2) CD4+ cells and, 3) CD19+ cells. The opposing findings to previous research and limited number of significant differences

seen in the immune cell profiles may be due to our chosen immune cell markers and gating strategies.

One difficulty when deciding how to identify epididymal immune cells is in regards to the innate immune cells, specifically the mononuclear phagocytes (MP's) macrophage and dendritic cells. Previous research describes epididymal immune cells as having an overlap of innate immune cell markers on their surface, so previous studies have called these groups of cells collectively as heterogenous MP's. Murine mononuclear phagocytes (MP's) typically express markers such as CD45 (all immune cells), CD11b (myeloid-lineage immune cells), CD206 (in macrophages and dendritic cells), CD11c (in dendritic cells), and F4/80 and CD64 (in macrophage cells) (Mullen *et al.*, 2003; Da Silva *et al.*, 2011; Azad *et al.*, 2014; Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020). Previous research has found that the typical CD11c surface marker of dendritic cells can also be expressed on macrophages, which usually express F4/80 (Hume, 2008). This is relevant to our study as our largest population of CD11b+ cells in the epididymis were both CD11c+ and F4/80+.

All of these innate immune cell markers are commonly used in research regarding the immune cell profiles in the murine epididymis. Shum *et al.* (2014) found epididymal epithelial MP cells that express either CD11c or F4/80 are seen with their nucleus in the basal region of the epididymal epithelium and are more common in the initial segment of the epididymis. Both these MP cell types project multiple intraepithelial dendrites that reach towards the lumen, though decrease in length as get closer to the cauda. Mullen *et al.* (2003) describes a similar type of F4/80+ cells with identical sounding shape and dispersion but was CD11b-, which is not common for an innate immune cell (Mullen *et al.* (2003)

*al.*, 2003). The MP cells seen in Shum *et al.* (2014) appear morphologically similar to basal cells (BC) of the epididymis, which can also sample the luminal environment, though BC only have one projection coming off of each cell in the initial segment and the projection disappears once in the caput. Additionally, these BC cells express KRT5 (BC marker keratin 5) and not F4/80, while MP's express F4/80 and not KRT5 (Shum *et al.*, 2014). Da Silva et al (2011) additionally describes several cell populations with the stellate morphology in between epithelial cells, which they call DC cells. One of the three populations is CD11c+, CD11b+, 103+ and F4/80+. The second is also CD11c+, CD11b+, but 103- and F4/80-. The third population is CD11c- and F4/80+ (Da Silva *et al.*, 2011). Recently, Mendelsohn *et al.* (2020) described DC cells in the epididymal epithelium as being CD11c+/CD64-/ MHCII+ and M $\varphi$  cells as being CD11c+/CD64+/F4/80+. They additionally found that the M $\varphi$ -like cells were more common in the initial segment, whereas the dendritic-like cells were more common in the cauda (Mendelsohn *et al.*, 2020).

In regards to the epididymal interstitium, Mullen *et al.* (2003) also found F4/80+ interstitial cells, though they were also CD45+ and CD11b-, which CD11b was not tested in Shum *et al.* (2014) (Mullen *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, CD11c+ cells are expressed in the interstitium, though less frequent than F4/80+ cells (Shum *et al.*, 2014). On the other hand, Da Silva et al. (2011) found an interstitial population of CD11c- cells that were CD206+ (Da Silva *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, due to the overlap of immune cell surface markers, more research needs to be done on further differentiating the molecular profile of epididymal innate immune cells. This unique epididymal immune

cell profile though might contribute to why the epididymis has such a low rate of cancer, with only 0.03% of all male cancers are in the epididymis (Yeung *et al.*, 2012).

## Bibliography

Aitken, R.J., Hulme, M.J., Henderson, C.J., Hargreave, T.B., and Ross, A. (1987) Analysis of the surface labelling characteristics of human spermatozoa and the interaction with anti-sperm antibodies. *J Reprod Fertil* **80**: 473–485.

Amarilyo, G., likuni, N., Liu, A., Matarese, G., and La Cava, A. (2014) Leptin enhances availability of apoptotic cell-derived self-antigen in systemic lupus erythematosus. *PloS One* **9**: e112826.

Anton, F., Morales, C., Aguilar, R., Bellido, C., Aguilar, E., and Gaytán, F. (1998) A comparative study of mast cells and eosinophil leukocytes in the mammalian testis. *Zentralbl Veterinarmed A* **45**: 209–218.

Aquila, S., Gentile, M., Middea, E., Catalano, S., Morelli, C., Pezzi, V., and Andò, S. (2005) Leptin secretion by human ejaculated spermatozoa. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **90**: 4753–4761.

Azad, A.K., Rajaram, M.V.S., and Schlesinger, L.S. (2014) Exploitation of the Macrophage Mannose Receptor (CD206) in Infectious Disease Diagnostics and Therapeutics. *J Cytol Mol Biol* **1**: 5.

Bado, A., Levasseur, S., Attoub, S., Kermorgant, S., Laigneau, J.P., Bortoluzzi, M.N., *et al.* (1998) The stomach is a source of leptin. *Nature* **394**: 790–793.

Baker, H.W., Clarke, G.N., Hudson, B., McBain, J.C., McGowan, M.P., and Pepperell, R.J. (1983) Treatment of sperm autoimmunity in men. *Clin Reprod Fertil* **2**: 55–71.

Barack, B.M. (1968) TRANSPORT OF SPERMATOZOA FROM SEMINIFEROUS TUBULES TO EPIDIDYMIS IN THE MOUSE: A HISTOLOGICAL AND QUANTITATIVE STUDY. *Reproduction* **16**: 35–48.

Baumgarten, H.G., Holstein, A.F., and Rosengren, E. (1971) Arrangement, ultrastructure, and adrenergic innervation of smooth musculature of the ductuli efferentes, ductus epididymidis and ductus deferens of man. *Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat Vienna Austria 1948* **120**: 37–79.

Bennett, B.D., Solar, G.P., Yuan, J.Q., Mathias, J., Thomas, G.R., and Matthews, W. (1996) A role for leptin and its cognate receptor in hematopoiesis. *Curr Biol CB* **6**: 1170–1180.

Bhat, G.K., Sea, T.L., Olatinwo, M.O., Simorangkir, D., Ford, G.D., Ford, B.D., and Mann, D.R. (2006) Influence of a leptin deficiency on testicular morphology, germ cell apoptosis, and expression levels of apoptosis-related genes in the mouse. *J Androl* **27**: 302–310.

Bohring, C., Krause, E., Habermann, B., and Krause, W. (2001) Isolation and identification of sperm membrane antigens recognized by antisperm antibodies, and their possible role in immunological infertility disease. *Mol Hum Reprod* **7**: 113–118.

Bruno, A., Conus, S., Schmid, I., and Simon, H.-U. (2005) Apoptotic pathways are inhibited by leptin receptor activation in neutrophils. *J Immunol Baltim Md* 1950 **174**: 8090–8096.

Carlton, E.D., Demas, G.E., and French, S.S. (2012) Leptin, a neuroendocrine mediator of immune responses, inflammation, and sickness behaviors. *Horm Behav* **62**: 272–279.

Chandra, A., and Stephen, E.H. (2013) Infertility and Impaired Fecundity in the United States, 1982–2010: Data From the National Survey of Family Growth. *Natl Health Stat Report* **67**: 1-19.

Chen, F., Wang, Y., Barman, S., and Fulton, D.J.R. (2015) Enzymatic regulation and functional relevance of NOX5. *Curr Pharm Des* **21**: 5999–6008.

Chen, S.-C., Kochan, J.P., Campfield, L.A., Burn, P., and Smeyne, R.J. (1999) Splice Variants of the OB Receptor Gene are Differentially Expressed in Brain and Peripheral Tissues of Mice. *J Recept Signal Transduct* **19**: 245–266.

Claycombe, K., King, L.E., and Fraker, P.J. (2008) A role for leptin in sustaining lymphopoiesis and myelopoiesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**: 2017–2021.

Cleary, M.P., Bergstrom, H.M., Dodge, T.L., Getzin, S.C., Jacobson, M.K., and Phillips, F.C. (2001) Restoration of fertility in young obese (Lepob Lepob) male mice with low dose recombinant mouse leptin treatment. *Int J Obes Relat Disord Hamps* **25**: 95–97.

Considine, R.V., Sinha, M.K., Heiman, M.L., Kriauciunas, A., Stephens, T.W., Nyce, M.R., *et al.* (1996) Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *N Engl J Med* **334**: 292–295.

Cooper, E.R.A., and Jackson, H. (1972) THE VASA EFFERENTIA IN THE RAT AND MOUSE. *Reproduction* **28**: 317–319.

Cooper, T.G., Yeung, C.-H., Jones, R., Orgebin-Crist, M.-C., and Robaire, B. (2002) Rebuttal of a role for the epididymis in sperm quality control by phagocytosis of defective sperm. *J Cell Sci* **115**: 5–7.

Cornwall, G.A. (2009) New insights into epididymal biology and function. *Hum Reprod Update* **15**: 213–227.

Cunningham, M.J., Clifton, D.K., and Steiner, R.A. (1999) Leptin's actions on the reproductive axis: perspectives and mechanisms. *Biol Reprod* **60**: 216–222.

Da Silva, N., Cortez-Retamozo, V., Reinecker, H.-C., Wildgruber, M., Hill, E., Brown, D., *et al.* (2011) A dense network of dendritic cells populates the murine epididymis. *Reprod Camb Engl* **141**: 653–663.

Dayakar, A., Chandrasekaran, S., Veronica, J., and Maurya, R. (2016) Leptin induces the phagocytosis and protective immune response in Leishmania donovani infected THP-1 cell line and human PBMCs. *Exp Parasitol* **160**: 54–59.

Demiry, M.I. el-, Hargreave, T.B., Busuttil, A., James, K., Ritchie, A.W., and Chisholm, G.D. (1985) Lymphocyte sub-populations in the male genital tract. *Br J Urol* **57**: 769–774.

Doncel, G.F., Di Paola, J.A., and Lustig, L. (1989) Sequential study of the histopathology and cellular and humoral immune response during the development of an autoimmune orchitis in Wistar rats. *Am J Reprod Immunol N Y N* 1989 **20**: 44–51.

Dym, M., and Romrell, L.J. (1975) Intraepithelial lymphocytes in the male reproductive tract of rats and rhesus monkeys. *J Reprod Fertil* **42**: 1–7.

Eddy, E.M., Vernon, R.B., Muller, C.H., Hahnel, A.C., and Fenderson, B.A. (1985) Immunodissection of sperm surface modifications during epididymal maturation. *Am J Anat* **174**: 225–237.

Ekwere, P.D. (1995) Immunological infertility among Nigerian men: incidence of circulating antisperm auto-antibodies and some clinical observations: a preliminary report. *Br J Urol* **76**: 366–370.

El Salam, M.A.A. (2018) Obesity, An Enemy of Male Fertility: A Mini Review. *Oman Med J* **33**: 3–6.

El-Haschimi, K., Pierroz, D.D., Hileman, S.M., Bjørbaek, C., and Flier, J.S. (2000) Two defects contribute to hypothalamic leptin resistance in mice with diet-induced obesity. *J Clin Invest* **105**: 1827–1832.

El-Hefnawy, T., loffe, S., and Dym, M. (2000) Expression of the leptin receptor during germ cell development in the mouse testis. *Endocrinology* **141**: 2624–2630.

Emeghe, I., and Ekeke, O. (2017) SERO-PREVALENCE OF ANTI-SPERM ANTI-BODIES IN INFERTILE MALES IN PORT HARCOURT, NIGERIA. **94**.

Ewart-Toland, A., Mounzih, K., Qiu, J., and Chehab, F.F. (1999) Effect of the Genetic Background on the Reproduction of Leptin-Deficient Obese Mice\*. *Endocrinology* **140**: 732–738.

Fantuzzi, G., and Faggioni, R. (2000) Leptin in the regulation of immunity, inflammation, and hematopoiesis. *J Leukoc Biol* **68**: 437–446.

Farooqi, I.S., Wangensteen, T., Collins, S., Kimber, W., Matarese, G., Keogh, J.M., *et al.* (2007) Clinical and molecular genetic spectrum of congenital deficiency of the leptin receptor. *N Engl J Med* **356**: 237–247.

Fei, H., Okano, H.J., Li, C., Lee, G.-H., Zhao, C., Darnell, R., and Friedman, J.M. (1997) Anatomic localization of alternatively spliced leptin receptors (Ob-R) in mouse brain and other tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**: 7001–7005.

Flickinger, C.J., Bush, L.A., Howards, S.S., and Herr, J.C. (1997) Distribution of leukocytes in the epithelium and interstitium of four regions of the Lewis rat epididymis. *Anat Rec* **248**: 380–390.

Francisco, V., Pino, J., Campos-Cabaleiro, V., Ruiz-Fernández, C., Mera, A., Gonzalez-Gay, M.A., *et al.* (2018) Obesity, Fat Mass and Immune System: Role for Leptin. *Front Physiol* **9**: 640.

Friedman, J. (2002) Effects of leptin treatment on weight loss. Study ID Number, JFN 0357. *ClinicalTrials.gov*.

Friedman, J.M., and Halaas, J.L. (1998) Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* **395**: 763–770.

Fu, L.-Y., and Pol, A.N. van den (2010) Kisspeptin directly excites anorexigenic proopiomelanocortin neurons but inhibits orexigenic neuropeptide Y cells by an indirect synaptic mechanism. *J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci* **30**: 10205–10219.

Gaytan, F., Bellido, C., Aguilar, E., and Rooijen, N. van (1994a) Requirement for testicular macrophages in Leydig cell proliferation and differentiation during prepubertal development in rats. *J Reprod Fertil* **102**: 393–399.

Gaytan, F., Bellido, C., Morales, C., Reymundo, C., Aguilar, E., and Rooijen, N. van (1994b) Selective depletion of testicular macrophages and prevention of Leydig cell repopulation after treatment with ethylene dimethane sulfonate in rats. *J Reprod Fertil* **101**: 175–182.

Gaytan, F., Bellido, C., Morales, C., Reymundo, C., Aguilar, E., and Van Rooijen, N. (1994c) Effects of macrophage depletion at different times after treatment with ethylene dimethane sulfonate (EDS) on the regeneration of Leydig cells in the adult rat. *J Androl* **15**: 558–564.

Geierhaas, B., Bornstein, S.R., Jarry, H., Scherbaum, W.A., Herrmann, M., and Pfeiffer, E.F. (1991) Morphological and hormonal changes following vasectomy in rats, suggesting a functional role for Leydig-cell associated macrophages. *Horm Metab Res Horm Stoffwechselforschung Horm Metab* **23**: 373–378.

Gruen, M.L., Hao, M., Piston, D.W., and Hasty, A.H. (2007) Leptin requires canonical migratory signaling pathways for induction of monocyte and macrophage chemotaxis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **293**: C1481-1488.

Guerau-de-Arellano, M., Martinic, M., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. (2009) Neonatal tolerance revisited: a perinatal window for Aire control of autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* **206**: 1245–1252.

Guttroff, R.F., Cooke, P.S., and Hess, R.A. (1992) Blind-ending tubules and branching patterns of the rat ductuli efferentes. *Anat Rec* **232**: 423–431.

Hales, C.M. (2017) Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015–2016. *NCHS Data Brief* **288**.

Hall, J.E. (2016) Guyton and Hall textbook of medical physiology. Elsevier.

Harlan (2007) Harlan Product Guide. Indianapolis, Indiana. pg 25.

Hedger, M.P. (2011) Immunophysiology and pathology of inflammation in the testis and epididymis. *J Androl* **32**: 625–640.

Hedger, M.P. (2015) The Immunophysiology of Male Reproduction. *Knobil Neills Physiol Reprod* 805–892.

Hemeida, N.A., Sack, W.O., and McEntee, K. (1978) Ductuli efferentes in the epididymis of boar, goat, ram, bull, and stallion. *Am J Vet Res* **39**: 1892–1900.

Herrid, M., O'Shea, T., and McFarlane, J.R. (2008) Ontogeny of leptin and its receptor expression in mouse testis during the postnatal period. *Mol Reprod Dev* **75**: 874–880.

Hess, R.A., Bunick, D., Lubahn, D.B., Zhou, Q., and Bouma, J. (2000) Morphologic changes in efferent ductules and epididymis in estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice. *J Androl* **21**: 107–121.

Hess, R.A., Gist, D.H., Bunick, D., Lubahn, D.B., Farrell, A., Bahr, J., *et al.* (1997) Estrogen receptor (alpha and beta) expression in the excurrent ducts of the adult male rat reproductive tract. *J Androl* **18**: 602–611.

Hirai, S., Naito, M., Terayama, H., Ning, Q., Miura, M., Shirakami, G., and Itoh, M. (2010) Difference in abundance of blood and lymphatic capillaries in the murine epididymis. *Med Mol Morphol* **43**: 37–42.

Hoffmann, A., Manjowk, G.-M., Wagner, I.V., Klöting, N., Ebert, T., Jessnitzer, B., *et al.* (2016) Leptin Within the Subphysiological to Physiological Range Dose Dependently Improves Male Reproductive Function in an Obesity Mouse Model. *Endocrinology* **157**: 2461–2468.

Hume, D.A. (2008) Differentiation and heterogeneity in the mononuclear phagocyte system. *Mucosal Immunol* **1**: 432–441.

Hume, D.A., Halpin, D., Charlton, H., and Gordon, S. (1984) The mononuclear phagocyte system of the mouse defined by immunohistochemical localization of antigen F4/80: macrophages of endocrine organs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **81**: 4174–4177.

Hutson, J.C. (1992) Development of cytoplasmic digitations between Leydig cells and testicular macrophages of the rat. *Cell Tissue Res* **267**: 385–389.

Hutson, J.C. (1994) Testicular macrophages. Int Rev Cytol 149: 99-143.

Ilio, K.Y., and Hess, R.A. (1994) Structure and function of the ductuli efferentes: A review. *Microsc Res Tech* **29**: 432–467.

Irwig, M.S., Fraley, G.S., Smith, J.T., Acohido, B.V., Popa, S.M., Cunningham, M.J., *et al.* (2004) Kisspeptin activation of gonadotropin releasing hormone neurons and regulation of KiSS-1 mRNA in the male rat. *Neuroendocrinology* **80**: 264–272.

Ishikawa, T., Fujioka, H., Ishimura, T., Takenaka, A., and Fujisawa, M. (2007) Expression of leptin and leptin receptor in the testis of fertile and infertile patients. *Andrologia* **39**: 22–27.

Isidori, A.M., Caprio, M., Strollo, F., Moretti, C., Frajese, G., Isidori, A., and Fabbri, A. (1999) Leptin and androgens in male obesity: evidence for leptin contribution to reduced androgen levels. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **84**: 3673–3680.

Itoh, M., Li, X.-Q., Yano, A., Xie, Q., and Takeuchi, Y. (1998) Patterns of Efferent Lymphatics of the Mouse Testis. *Intl J Androl* **19**: 466-472.

Jahnukainen, K., JørgensenN, null, Pöllänen, P., Giwercman, A., and Skakkebaek, N.E. (1995) Incidence of testicular mononuclear cell infiltrates in normal human males and in patients with germ cell neoplasia. *Int J Androl* **18**: 313–320.

Johnston, D.S., Jelinsky, S.A., Bang, H.J., DiCandeloro, P., Wilson, E., Kopf, G.S., and Turner, T.T. (2005) The Mouse Epididymal Transcriptome: Transcriptional Profiling of Segmental Gene Expression in the Epididymis. *Biol Reprod* **73**: 404–413.

Jonté, G., and Holstein, A.F. (1987) On the morphology of the transitional zones from the rete testis into the ductuli efferentes and from the ductuli efferentes into the ductus epididymidis. Investigations on the human testis and epididymis. *Andrologia* **19**: 398–412.

Jope, T., Lammert, A., Kratzsch, J., Paasch, U., and Glander, H.-J. (2003) Leptin and leptin receptor in human seminal plasma and in human spermatozoa. *Int J Androl* **26**: 335–341.

Katib, A. (2015) Mechanisms linking obesity to male infertility. *Cent Eur J Urol* **68**: 79–85.

Kerr, J.B., Loveland, K., O'Bryan, M., and Kretser, D. de (2006) Cytology of the Testis and Intrinsic Control Mechanisms. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction*. pp. 827–947.

Kobayashi, K., Forte, T.M., Taniguchi, S., Ishida, B.Y., Oka, K., and Chan, L. (2000) The db/db mouse, a model for diabetic dyslipidemia: molecular characterization and effects of Western diet feeding. *Metabolism* **49**: 22–31.

Kohno, S., Munoz, J.A., Williams, T.M., Teuscher, C., Bernard, C.C., and Tung, K.S. (1983) Immunopathology of murine experimental allergic orchitis. *J Immunol Baltim Md* 1950 **130**: 2675–2682.

Kretser, D.M. de, Huidobro, C., Southwick, G.J., and Temple-Smith, P.D. (1998) The role of the epididymis in human infertility. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl* **53**: 271–275.

Lam, Q.L.K., Liu, S., Cao, X., and Lu, L. (2006) Involvement of leptin signaling in the survival and maturation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* **36**: 3118–3130.

Lam, Q.L.K., Wang, S., Ko, O.K.H., Kincade, P.W., and Lu, L. (2010) Leptin signaling maintains B-cell homeostasis via induction of Bcl-2 and Cyclin D1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**: 13812–13817.

Landry, D., Cloutier, F., and Martin, L.J. (2013) Implications of leptin in neuroendocrine regulation of male reproduction. *Reprod Biol* **13**: 1–14.

Lenzi, A., Gandini, L., Lombardo, F., Rago, R., Paoli, D., and Dondero, F. (1997) Antisperm antibody detection: 2. Clinical, biological, and statistical correlation between methods. *Am J Reprod Immunol N Y N 1989* **38**: 224–230.

Linder, E. (1971) Fate of a kidney-specific mesonephric antigen during the differentiation of the epididymis. *Ann N Acad Sci* **177**.

Lo, C.K.C., Lam, Q.L.K., Yang, M., Ko, K.-H., Sun, L., Ma, R., *et al.* (2009) Leptin signaling protects NK cells from apoptosis during development in mouse bone marrow. *Cell Mol Immunol* **6**: 353–360.

Luca, C. de, Kowalski, T.J., Zhang, Y., Elmquist, J.K., Lee, C., Kilimann, M.W., *et al.* (2005) Complete rescue of obesity, diabetes, and infertility in db/db mice by neuron-specific LEPR-B transgenes. *J Clin Invest* **115**: 3484–3493.

Macmillan, E.W. (1953) Higher epididymal obstructions in male infertility; etiology and treatment. *Fertil Steril* **4**: 101–127.

Maffei, M., Halaas, J., Ravussin, E., Pratley, R.E., Lee, G.H., Zhang, Y., *et al.* (1995) Leptin levels in human and rodent: measurement of plasma leptin and ob RNA in obese and weight-reduced subjects. *Nat Med* **1**: 1155–1161.

Man, S.Y., Clulow, J., Hansen, L.A., and Jones, R.C. (1997) Adrenal independence of fluid and electrolyte reabsorption in the ductuli efferentes testis of the rat. *Exp Physiol* **82**: 283–290.

Mancuso, P., Myers, M.G., Goel, D., Serezani, C.H., O'Brien, E., Goldberg, J., *et al.* (2012) Ablation of Leptin Receptor-Mediated ERK Activation Impairs Host Defense against Gram-Negative Pneumonia. *J Immunol* **189**: 867–875.

Margetic, S., Gazzola, C., Pegg, G.G., and Hill, R.A. (2002) Leptin: a review of its peripheral actions and interactions. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord J Int Assoc Study Obes* **26**: 1407–1433.

Martins, F.F., Aguila, M.B., and Mandarim-de-Lacerda, C.A. (2017) Impaired steroidogenesis in the testis of leptin-deficient mice (ob/ob -/-). *Acta Histochem* **119**: 508–515.

Matarese, G., Procaccini, C., De Rosa, V., Horvath, T.L., and La Cava, A. (2010) Regulatory T cells in obesity: the leptin connection. *Trends Mol Med* **16**: 247–256.

Matteis, R.D., Dashtipour, K., Ognibene, A., and Cinti, S. (1998) Localization of leptin receptor splice variants in mouse peripheral tissues by immunohistochemistry. *Proc Nutr Soc* **57**: 441–448.

Mattioli, B., Straface, E., Quaranta, M.G., Giordani, L., and Viora, M. (2005) Leptin promotes differentiation and survival of human dendritic cells and licenses them for Th1 priming. *J Immunol Baltim Md* 1950 **174**: 6820–6828.

McKinley, M.P., O'Loughlin, V.D., and Stouter Bidle, T. (2019) *Anatomy and Physiology: An Integrative Approach*. 3e ed., McGraw Hill.

Meinhardt, A., Bacher, M., Metz, C., Bucala, R., Wreford, N., Lan, H., *et al.* (1998) Local regulation of macrophage subsets in the adult rat testis: examination of the roles of the seminiferous tubules, testosterone, and macrophage-migration inhibitory factor. *Biol Reprod* **59**: 371–378.

Meinhardt, A., and Hedger, M.P. (2011) Immunological, paracrine and endocrine aspects of testicular immune privilege. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **335**: 60–68.

Mendelsohn, A.C., Sanmarco, L.M., Spallanzani, R.G., Brown, D., Quintana, F.J., Breton, S., and Battistone, M.A. (2020) From initial segment to cauda: a regional characterization of mouse epididymal CD11c <sup>+</sup> mononuclear phagocytes based on immune phenotype and function. *Am J Physiol-Cell Physiol* **319**: C997–C1010.

Messager, S., Chatzidaki, E.E., Ma, D., Hendrick, A.G., Zahn, D., Dixon, J., *et al.* (2005) Kisspeptin directly stimulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone release via G protein-coupled receptor 54. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**: 1761–1766.

Michel, V., Pilatz, A., Hedger, M.P., and Meinhardt, A. (2015) Epididymitis: revelations at the convergence of clinical and basic sciences. *Asian J Androl* **17**: 756–763.

Möller, R. (1980) Arrangement and fine structure of lymphatic vessels in the human spermatic cord. *Andrologia* **12**: 564–576.

Montecucco, F., Bianchi, G., Gnerre, P., Bertolotto, M., Dallegri, F., and Ottonello, L. (2006) Induction of neutrophil chemotaxis by leptin: crucial role for p38 and Src kinases. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1069**: 463–471.

Moraes-Vieira, P.M.M., Larocca, R.A., Bassi, E.J., Peron, J.P.S., Andrade-Oliveira, V., Wasinski, F., *et al.* (2014) Leptin deficiency impairs maturation of dendritic cells and enhances induction of regulatory T and Th17 cells. *Eur J Immunol* **44**: 794–806.

Mounzih, K., Lu, R., and Chehab, F.F. (1997) Leptin treatment rescues the sterility of genetically obese ob/ob males. *Endocrinology* **138**: 1190–1193.

Mullen, T.E., Kiessling, R.L., and Kiessling, A.A. (2003) Tissue-specific populations of leukocytes in semen-producing organs of the normal, hemicastrated, and vasectomized mouse. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* **19**: 235–243.

Nashan, D., Cooper, T.G., Knuth, U.A., Schubeus, P., Sorg, C., and Nieschlag, E. (1990) Presence and distribution of leucocyte subsets in the murine epididymis after vasectomy. *Int J Androl* **13**: 39–49.

Nashan, D., Malorny, U., Sorg, C., Cooper, T., and Nieschlag, E. (1989) Immuno-competent cells in the murine epididymis. *Int J Androl* **12**: 85–94.

Naylor, C., Burgess, S., Madan, R., Buonomo, E., Razzaq, K., Ralston, K., and Petri, W.A. (2014) Leptin receptor mutation results in defective neutrophil recruitment to the colon during Entamoeba histolytica infection. *mBio* **5**: e02046-14.

Orgebin-Crist, M.-C., Danzo, B., and Davies, J. (1975) Endocrine control of the development and maintenance of sperm fertilizing ability in the epididymis. In *Handbook of Physiology* I *American Physiological Society*, p. 319-338.

Otero, M., Lago, R., Gómez, R., Lago, F., Gómez-Reino, J.J., and Gualillo, O. (2006) Leptin: a metabolic hormone that functions like a proinflammatory adipokine. *Drug News Perspect* **19**: 21–26.

Papathanassoglou, E., El-Haschimi, K., Li, X.C., Matarese, G., Strom, T., and Mantzoros, C. (2006) Leptin receptor expression and signaling in lymphocytes: kinetics during lymphocyte activation, role in lymphocyte survival, and response to high fat diet in mice. *J Immunol Baltim Md* 1950 **176**: 7745–7752.

Parham, P. (2005) The immune system. Second edition. New York, NY : Garland Science.

Pearl, C., and Doherty, M. (2018) Differential Effects of Leptin and Leptin Receptor Deficiency on Testicular and Epididymal Sperm Numbers in Mice. *Endocr Rev* **39**.

Pöllänen, P., and Niemi, M. (1987) Immunohistochemical identification of macrophages, lymphoid cells and HLA antigens in the human testis. *Int J Androl* **10**: 37–42.

Quennell, J.H., Mulligan, A.C., Tups, A., Liu, X., Phipps, S.J., Kemp, C.J., *et al.* (2009) Leptin indirectly regulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal function. *Endocrinology* **150**: 2805–2812.

Ritchie, A.W., Hargreave, T.B., James, K., and Chisholm, G.D. (1984) Intra-epithelial lymphocytes in the normal epididymis. A mechanism for tolerance to sperm auto-antigens? *Br J Urol* **56**: 79–83.

Rival, C., Guazzone, V.A., Wulffen, W. von, Hackstein, H., Schneider, E., Lustig, L., *et al.* (2007) Expression of co-stimulatory molecules, chemokine receptors and proinflammatory cytokines in dendritic cells from normal and chronically inflamed rat testis. *Mol Hum Reprod* **13**: 853–861.

Robaire, B., Chan, P., and Hinton, B.T. (2010a) What does the epididymis do and how does it do it? In *Andrology Handbook* | *American Society of Andrology*. Allen Press Inc., p. 10.1-10.5.

Robaire, B., Chan, P., and Swerdloff, R.S. (2010b) What is the relationship among the various endocrine components of the male reproductive system? In *Andrology Handbook* | *American Society of Andrology*. Allen Press Inc., p. 2.1-2.4.

Robaire, B., and Hermo, L. (1988) Efferent ducts, epididymis, and Vas deferens: structure, functions, and their regulation. In *Knobil Neill's Physiol. Reprod.* Raven Press, Ltd., New York. pp 999-1080.

Robaire, B., and Hinton, B. (2015) The Epididymis. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction. Volume 1*. pp. 691–771.

Robaire, B., and Viger, R.S. (1995) Regulation of epididymal epithelial cell functions. *Biol Reprod* **52**: 226–236.

Rosa, V.D., Procaccini, C., Calì, G., Pirozzi, G., Fontana, S., Zappacosta, S., *et al.* (2007) A Key Role of Leptin in the Control of Regulatory T Cell Proliferation. *Immunity* **26**: 241–255.

Sallmén, M., Sandler, D.P., Hoppin, J.A., Blair, A., and Baird, D.D. (2006) Reduced fertility among overweight and obese men. *Epidemiol Camb Mass* **17**: 520–523.

Sánchez-Margalet, V., Martín-Romero, C., Santos-Alvarez, J., Goberna, R., Najib, S., and Gonzalez-Yanes, C. (2003) Role of leptin as an immunomodulator of blood mononuclear cells: mechanisms of action. *Clin Exp Immunol* **133**: 11–19.

Schwartz, M.W., Baskin, D.G., Bukowski, T.R., Kuijper, J.L., Foster, D., Lasser, G., *et al.* (1996) Specificity of leptin action on elevated blood glucose levels and hypothalamic neuropeptide Y gene expression in ob/ob mice. *Diabetes* **45**: 531–535.

Scotece, M., Conde, J., López, V., Lago, F., Pino, J., Gómez-Reino, J.J., and Gualillo, O. (2014) Adiponectin and leptin: new targets in inflammation. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* **114**: 97–102.

Seiler, P., Cooper, T.G., Yeung, C.H., and Nieschlag, E. (1999) Regional variation in macrophage antigen expression by murine epididymal basal cells and their regulation by testicular factors. *J Androl* **20**: 738–746.

Señarís, R., Garcia-Caballero, T., Casabiell, X., Gallego, R., Castro, R., Considine, R.V., *et al.* (1997) Synthesis of leptin in human placenta. *Endocrinology* **138**: 4501–4504.

Serre, V., and Robaire, B. (1999) Distribution of Immune Cells in the Epididymis of the Aging Brown Norway Rat Is Segment-Specific and Related to the Luminal Content1. *Biol Reprod* **61**: 705–714.

Shetty, J., Naaby-Hansen, S., Shibahara, H., Bronson, R., Flickinger, C.J., and Herr, J.C. (1999) Human sperm proteome: immunodominant sperm surface antigens identified with sera from infertile men and women. *Biol Reprod* **61**: 61–69.

Shum, W.W., Smith, T.B., Cortez-Retamozo, V., Grigoryeva, L.S., Roy, J.W., Hill, E., *et al.* (2014) Epithelial Basal Cells Are Distinct from Dendritic Cells and Macrophages in the Mouse Epididymis<sup>1</sup>. *Biol Reprod* **90**: 1-10.

Shum, W.W.C., Da Silva, N., McKee, M., Smith, P.J.S., Brown, D., and Breton, S. (2008) Transepithelial projections from basal cells are luminal sensors in pseudostratified epithelia. *Cell* **135**: 1108–1117.

Sinha, M.K., Opentanova, I., Ohannesian, J.P., Kolaczynski, J.W., Heiman, M.L., Hale, J., *et al.* (1996) Evidence of free and bound leptin in human circulation. Studies in lean and obese subjects and during short-term fasting. *J Clin Invest* **98**: 1277–1282.

Smith, J.T., Acohido, B.V., Clifton, D.K., and Steiner, R.A. (2006) KiSS-1 neurones are direct targets for leptin in the ob/ob mouse. *J Neuroendocrinol* **18**: 298–303.

Smith, L.B., and Walker, W.H. (2015) Chapter 16 - Hormone Signaling in the Testis. In *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction (Fourth Edition)*. Plant, T.M., and Zeleznik, A.J. (eds). Academic Press, San Diego. pp. 637–690.

Stephens, T.W., Basinski, M., Bristow, P.K., Bue-Valleskey, J.M., Burgett, S.G., Craft, L., *et al.* (1995) The role of neuropeptide Y in the antiobesity action of the obese gene product. *Nature* **377**: 530–532.

Tartaglia, L.A. (1997) The Leptin Receptor. J Biol Chem 272: 6093–6096.

Teerds, K.J., Rooij, D.G. de, and Keijer, J. (2011) Functional relationship between obesity and male reproduction: from humans to animal models. *Hum Reprod Update* **17**: 667–683.

Tian, Z., Sun, R., Wei, H., and Gao, B. (2002) Impaired natural killer (NK) cell activity in leptin receptor deficient mice: leptin as a critical regulator in NK cell development and activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **298**: 297–302.

Tompkins, A.B., Hutchinson, P., Kretser, D.M. de, and Hedger, M.P. (1998) Characterization of lymphocytes in the adult rat testis by flow cytometry: effects of activin and transforming growth factor beta on lymphocyte subsets in vitro. *Biol Reprod* **58**: 943–951.

Tsatsanis, C., Dermitzaki, E., Avgoustinaki, P., Malliaraki, N., Mytaras, V., and Margioris, A.N. (2015) The impact of adipose tissue-derived factors on the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. *Horm Athens Greece* **14**: 549–562.

Tsiotra, P.C., Pappa, V., Raptis, S.A., and Tsigos, C. (2000) Expression of the long and short leptin receptor isoforms in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: Implications for leptin's actions. *Metabolism* **49**: 1537–1541.

Turner, T.T. (1984) Resorption versus secretion in the rat epididymis. *J Reprod Fertil* **72**: 509-514.

Wabitsch, M., Funcke, J.-B., Schnurbein, J. von, Denzer, F., Lahr, G., Mazen, I., *et al.* (2015) Severe Early-Onset Obesity Due to Bioinactive Leptin Caused by a p.N103K Mutation in the Leptin Gene. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **100**: 3227–3230.

Wagner, N.-M., Brandhorst, G., Czepluch, F., Lankeit, M., Eberle, C., Herzberg, S., *et al.* (2013) Circulating regulatory T cells are reduced in obesity and may identify subjects at increased metabolic and cardiovascular risk. *Obes Silver Spring Md* **21**: 461–468.

Wang, J., Liu, R., Hawkins, M., Barzilai, N., and Rossetti, L. (1998) A nutrient-sensing pathway regulates leptin gene expression in muscle and fat. *Nature* **393**: 684–688.

Wang, J., Wreford, N.G., Lan, H.Y., Atkins, R., and Hedger, M.P. (1994) Leukocyte populations of the adult rat testis following removal of the Leydig cells by treatment with ethane dimethane sulfonate and subcutaneous testosterone implants. *Biol Reprod* **51**: 551–561.

Wasim, M., Awan, F.R., Najam, S.S., Khan, A.R., and Khan, H.N. (2016) Role of Leptin Deficiency, Inefficiency, and Leptin Receptors in Obesity. *Biochem Genet N* Y **54**: 565–572.

Wauman, J., Zabeau, L., and Tavernier, J. (2017) The Leptin Receptor Complex: Heavier Than Expected? *Front Endocrinol* **8**: 30.

Williams, K.W., Scott, M.M., and Elmquist, J.K. (2009) From observation to experimentation: leptin action in the mediobasal hypothalamus. *Am J Clin Nutr* **89**: 985S-990S.

Yeung, C.H., Nashan, D., Sorg, C., Oberpenning, F., Schulze, H., Nieschlag, E., and Cooper, T.G. (1994) Basal cells of the human epididymis--antigenic and ultrastructural similarities to tissue-fixed macrophages. *Biol Reprod* **50**: 917–926.

Yeung, C.-H., Wang, K., and Cooper, T.G. (2012) Why are epididymal tumours so rare? *Asian J Androl* **14**: 465–475.

Zabeau, L., Lavens, D., Peelman, F., Eyckerman, S., Vandekerckhove, J., and Tavernier, J. (2003) The ins and outs of leptin receptor activation. *FEBS Lett* **546**: 45–50.

Zegers-Hochschild, F., Adamson, G.D., Mouzon, J. de, Ishihara, O., Mansour, R., Nygren, K., *et al.* (2009) International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) revised glossary of ART terminology, 2009. *Fertil Steril* **92**: 1520–1524.

Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., and Friedman, J.M. (1994) Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* **372**: 425–432. Zhao, Y., Sun, R., You, L., Gao, C., and Tian, Z. (2003) Expression of leptin receptors and response to leptin stimulation of human natural killer cell lines. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **300**: 247–252.